https://prism.ucalgary.ca

Open Theses and Dissertations

2019-04-17

# Intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia in pregnancies complicated by diabetes

Yamamoto, Jennifer M.

Yamamoto, J. M. (2019). Intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia in pregnancies complicated by diabetes (Master's thesis, University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada). Retrieved from https://prism.ucalgary.ca. http://hdl.handle.net/1880/110176 Downloaded from PRISM Repository, University of Calgary

### UNIVERSITY OF CALGARY

Intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia in pregnancies complicated by diabetes

by

Jennifer M Yamamoto

### A THESIS

## SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

### GRADUATE PROGRAM IN COMMUNITY HEALTH SCIENCES

CALGARY, ALBERTA

APRIL, 2019

© Jennifer M Yamamoto 2019

#### Abstract

Neonatal hypoglycemia is common following pregnancies complicated by diabetes. Current dogma suggests that tight intrapartum glycemic control decreases the risk of neonatal hypoglycemia by avoiding an acute rise in fetal insulin prior to delivery. This thesis reports on two studies that bring to question the association between intrapartum glycemic control and the risk of neonatal hypoglycemia. The first is a systematic review that highlights the paucity of high quality evidence confirming an association between intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia. The second is the largest cohort to date examining this relationship. It found that after adjustment for important neonatal confounders, in-target intrapartum glycemic control was not significantly associated with neonatal hypoglycemia. When taken as whole, these studies question current guidelines recommending tight intrapartum glycemic control and call for a randomized controlled trial of tight versus more relaxed glycemic targets during the labour and delivery period.

### Preface

This manuscript-based thesis centres around two manuscripts. For both manuscripts below, Dr. Yamamoto contributed to the conception and design of the work. She was also responsible for much of the data cleaning and merging, the data analysis, interpretation of the data and the initial drafts of the manuscripts. This work was guided by all committee members (Drs. Stephen Wood, Lois Donovan and Khorshid Mohammad) and co-authors (Dr. Jamie Benham). All committee members and authors contributed to parts of study design, interpretation of the data, in addition to critical revision of the manuscript and final approval. All consented to inclusion of the manuscripts in this thesis. Where applicable, copyright permission has been obtained from the publisher (Appendix). Ethics approval was obtained from the Conjoint Health Research Ethics Board at the University of Calgary (REB16-2093) for the original work presented in this thesis.

**Yamamoto JM**, Benham J, Mohammad K, Donovan LE, Wood S. Intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycaemia in pregnancies complicated by diabetes – A systematic review. Diabet Med. 2018 Feb;35(2):173-183. doi: 10.1111/dme.13546.

**Yamamoto JM**, Mohammad K, Donovan LE, Wood S. Neonatal hypoglycemia and intrapartum glycemic control in pregnancies complicated by Type 1, Type 2 and gestational diabetes. *Prepared for submission* 

### Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my thesis supervisor Dr. Stephen Wood for his guidance, support, criticism, and patience over the last few years. As well, I would like to thank my thesis committee members for sharing their expertise, time, and patience. With your guidance, you have made me a better clinician and researcher.

I would like to thank Susan Crawford for her help with large task of data cleaning and merging. We are grateful to the Stewart Diabetes Fund and the Cal Wenzel Family Foundation for funding this project. Last, but certainly not least, I thank my family and friends for their love and support throughout this journey.

### Dedication

I dedicate this thesis to my mentor Dr. Lois Donovan to whom I owe so much of my success. Over the years you have been my teacher, my advocate, my confidant, and my friend. You inspire me to be better every day. For all this and more, I thank you.

Abstractii
Prefaceiii
Acknowledgementsiv
Dedication
Table of Contents
List of Tables viii
List of Figures and Illustrations ix
List of Symbols, Abbreviations and Nomenclaturex
Epigraph xi
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION
1.1 Diabetes in Pregnancy
1.2 Complications Associated with Diabetes in Pregnancy
1.3 Neonatal Hypoglycemia in Pregnancies with Diabetes
1.4 Maternal Intrapartum Glycemic Control and Neonatal Hypoglycemia – The Current
Dogma
1 5 Thesis Outline 5
1 6 Figures 7
CHAPTER TWO: INTRAPARTUM GLYCEMIC CONTROL AND NEONATAL HYPOGLYCEMIA IN PREGNANCIES COMPLICATED BY DIABETES: A SYSTEMATIC REVIEW
2.1 Abstract
2.2 Introduction
2.3 Methods
2.3.1 Search strategy and selection criteria
2.3.2 Data analysis
2.4 Results
2.4.1 Study characteristics
2.4.2 Intrapartum glucose and neonatal hypoglycemia
2.4.3 Studies that found a relationship
2.4.4 Studies with mixed results
2.4.5 Studies that did not find a relationship
2.4.6 Other participant characteristics in included studies
2.4.7 Study quality
2.5 Discussion
2.6 Acknowledgements
2.7 Contributors
2.8 Tables and Figures
2.9 Supplementary Material
CHAPTER THREE: NEONATAL HYPOGLYCEMIA AND INTRAPARTUM GLYCEMIC CONTROL IN PREGNANCIES COMPLICATED BY TYPE 1, TYPE 2 AND GESTATIONAL DIABETES
3.1 Abstract

## Table of Contents

3.2 Background	
3.3 Methods	
3.3.1 Study population	
3.3.2 Data sources and collection	
3.3.3 Local guidelines	40
3.3.4 Definitions and outcome measures	41
3.3.5 Statistical analysis	42
3.4 Results	
3.4.1 Intrapartum glycemic control	
3.4.2 Intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia	45
3.5 Discussion	46
3.6 Acknowledgements	51
3.7 Contribution	51
3.8 Tables and Figures	
3.9 Supplementary Material	57
CHAPTER FOUR: SUMMARY	
4 1 Overview	62
4.2 Neonatal hypoglycemia and gestational diabetes	64
4.3 Neonatal hypoglycemia and pre-existing diabetes – Shifting the focus ba	ick to antenatal
glycemic control	
4.4 Conclusions and future directions	67
REFERENCES	70
APPENDIX	
Copyright agreement for Chapter 2 "Intrapartum glycemic control and neon	atal
hypoglycemia in pregnancies complicated by diabetes: a systematic rev	view"81

### List of Tables

Table 2.1: Study Characteristics and Definitions	23
Table 2.2: Study Results Analyzing Relationship Between Intrapartum Glucose and Neona         Hypoglycemia	atal 25
Table 2.3: Pregnancy Characteristics from Included Studies	28
Table 2.4: Assessment of Study Quality	30
Supplementary Table 2.1: Search Strategy	32
Supplementary Table 2.2: Assessment of Study Quality	33
Table 3.1: Maternal Characteristics by Type of Diabetes	52
Table 3.2: Neonatal Characteristics by Type of Diabetes	53
Table 3.3: Intrapartum (within 24 hours prior to delivery) Glycemic Control for Mothers on Neonates with and without Hypoglycemia by Type of Diabetes	of 54
Table 3.4: Adjusted Multivariable Logistic Regression Models for Odds of Neonatal Hypoglycemia	55
Supplementary Table 3.1: Summary of the Data Source for Included Variables	57
Supplementary Table 3.2: Differences Between Women with and without Intrapartum Glycemic Control Data	58
Supplementary Table 3.3: Results of Univariate Logistic Regression for Neonatal Hypoglycemia	59

## List of Figures and Illustrations

Figure 1.1: Types of Diabetes in Pregnancy	7
Figure 1.2: Diagram of Theoretical Relationship between Maternal Intrapartum Hyperglycemia and Neonatal Hypoglycemia	8
Figure 2.1: Study Selection Flow Chart	31
Figure 3.1: Study Flow Chart	56

## List of Symbols, Abbreviations and Nomenclature

Symbol	Definition
BMI	Body Mass Index
CI	Confidence Interval
CGM	Continuous Glucose Monitoring
GDM	Gestational Diabetes Mellitus
HbA1c	Hemoglobin A1c
IDD	Insulin Dependent Diabetes
IQR	Interquartile Range
JB	Jamie Benham
JY	Jennifer Yamamoto
KM	Khorshid Mohammad
LD	Lois Donovan
OGTT	Oral Glucose Tolerance Test
OR	Odds Ratio
SD	Standard Deviation
SW	Stephen Wood
T1D	Type 1 Diabetes
T2D	Type 2 Diabetes
UK	United Kingdom
US	United States of America

## Epigraph

The greater the ignorance the greater the dogmatism.

— Sir William Osler

Chapter One: Introduction

### **1.1 Diabetes in Pregnancy**

Hyperglycemia in pregnancy is common and affects up to 17% of pregnancies worldwide (1). Its incidence varies widely depending on the definitions used and the risk factors of a given population. Most hyperglycemia in pregnancy (~85%) is gestational diabetes and the remainder is pre-existing diabetes (Figure 1.1) (1). In Alberta, diabetes is diagnosed in at least 6% of pregnancies (2).

Gestational diabetes is typically screened for at 24-28 weeks gestation and is most often managed with lifestyle therapy alone (3). About a third of women with gestational diabetes require pharmacotherapy, generally insulin and/or metformin, in addition to recommended lifestyle changes (3). Pre-existing diabetes is most commonly Type 1 or Type 2 diabetes diagnosed before pregnancy and less commonly other forms of diabetes such as maturity onset diabetes of the young. Type 1 diabetes is an autoimmune condition characterized by insulindependence. Both in and outside of pregnancy, persons with Type 1 diabetes require insulin as a life-sustaining therapy. While the development of Type 2 diabetes is multifactorial, it is primarily characterized by insulin-resistance. In pregnancy, most women with Type 2 diabetes generally require insulin.

### **1.2** Complications Associated with Diabetes in Pregnancy

Unfortunately, diabetes in pregnancy continues to be associated with an increased risk of both obstetric and neonatal complications (4-7). In women with pre-existing diabetes, up to 1 in 2 pregnancies will have a common complication such as large for gestational age, preterm delivery, neonatal hypoglycemia, or neonatal intensive care unit admission (4, 7, 8). As well,

these pregnancies have a two to five-fold increased risk of serious adverse neonatal outcomes (congenital anomaly, stillbirth, or neonatal death) (5, 9, 10). Untreated gestational diabetes is associated with increased obstetric and neonatal complications such as preeclampsia, caesarean section, preterm delivery, shoulder dystocia, neonatal intensive care unit admission, and large for gestational age (11, 12). Because gestational diabetes is typically characterized by hyperglycemia later in pregnancy, it is associated with less frequent and generally less severe complications (3).

### 1.3 Neonatal Hypoglycemia in Pregnancies with Diabetes

The neonate requires several adaptive mechanisms such as glycogen stores, gluconeogenic precursors, hepatic enzymes, and an intact endocrine system to maintain normal glucose levels (13). Classic risk factors for neonatal hypoglycemia generally cause problems in one or many of these aspects important in glucose metabolism. These risk factors include infants of mothers with diabetes as well as large for gestational age, small for gestational age and preterm infants (14, 15). In pregnancies complicated by diabetes, maternal glycemic control, infant size, and treatment may also influence the risk of neonatal hypoglycemia (8, 16, 17).

Neonatal hypoglycemia is common in pregnancies with diabetes (15, 18, 19). The definition of neonatal hypoglycemia remains contentious in the neonatal literature (20). Given the controversy regarding its definition, there is little surprise that there is quite a range of definitions included in studies examining neonatal hypoglycemia in women with diabetes. Definitions use glucoses from <1.7 mmol/L to  $\leq$ 2.6mmol/L with or without symptoms or whether the neonate required intravenous treatment (15, 20).

While there is much controversy surrounding its definition, neonatal hypoglycemia is well recognized as a potentially serious complication if left undiagnosed and untreated (20). However, even treated neonatal hypoglycemia has been associated with some neurocognitive impairments into childhood (21). Neonatal hypoglycemia requires careful monitoring and may require admission to the neonatal intensive care unit and treatment with intravenous dextrose. Neonatal hypoglycemia is one of the leading causes of admission to neonatal intensive care units with a mean cost of >£3800 (\$6500) per neonate (22). This is costly not only in terms of healthcare resources but also may incur other important costs such as maternal infant separation and effects on breastfeeding initiation.

## 1.4 Maternal Intrapartum Glycemic Control and Neonatal Hypoglycemia – The Current Dogma

Maternal hyperglycemia in labour is thought to increase the risk of neonatal hypoglycemia by triggering an acute rise in fetal insulin (23). Following delivery, the neonate's insulin remains high but they no longer have excess maternal glucose delivery through the placenta and therefore their glucose levels fall (Figure 1.2).

Current dogma suggests tight glucose control during labour is thought to decrease the risk of neonatal hypoglycemia by preventing this acute rise in fetal insulin in response to maternal hyperglycemia (23). Tight glycemic control is generally achieved through use of insulin therapy, administered subcutaneously or intravenously (3). This requires additional close monitoring of maternal glucose (generally capillary blood glucose testing every 1 hour) and a frequent assessment examining for signs and symptoms of hypoglycemia throughout labour, delivery and immediately postpartum. This is due to the high risk of maternal hypoglycemia associated with insulin therapy at time of delivery with up to 56% of women experiencing at least one episode during the labour and delivery period (24).

The literature regarding the importance of glucose control during labour remains inconsistent (23, 25-28). A review done by Ryan and Al-Agha in 2014 found 19 studies that sought to examine the relationship between maternal glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia (23). Of the 19 studies, 10 found a significant inverse relationship between intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia and 9 did not demonstrate this effect. There may be many reasons for the heterogeneity of the results in these studies. Firstly, only 10 of those studies were published in the last 20 years. This is important since the management of diabetes both during and outside of pregnancy has changed dramatically. In the last 20 years, we have seen the introduction of new insulins and diabetes technologies as well as the publication of important landmark trials in the treatment of diabetes (6, 18, 29-31). The introduction of these tools may have contributed to better glycemic control during pregnancy. This may have influenced the risk of neonatal hypoglycemia as the literature suggests the risk of neonatal hypoglycemia is affected by glycemic control in the third trimester (8, 16, 32). Secondly, given the controversy regarding the definition of neonatal hypoglycemia, there is little surprise that there is quite a range of definitions included in this literature. These studies use glucoses from <1.7 mmol/L to <2.6mmol/L with or without symptoms or whether the neonatal required intravenous treatment (23). Furthermore, the definition of in-target glycemic control also has a variety of definitions (23). Many of the studies use the glucose closest to delivery as within or outside of target; this may not accurately represent the range of glucoses a woman may have over the course of her labour and delivery and therefore effect the consistency of results. Thirdly, the type of diabetes (Type 1, Type 2 or gestational diabetes) may influence the importance of intrapartum glycemic control on risk of neonatal hypoglycemia. For instance, in studies primarily in women with gestational diabetes, most have not found an inverse relationship between intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia (25-28). Lastly, many of these studies had small numbers, incomplete adjustment, and other methodological shortcomings that may have affected the internal validity. When this thesis was initially proposed, no rigorous systematic reviews had been performed examining the association between intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia.

Intensive intrapartum glucose control is the standard of care despite these conflicting data and the high risk of maternal hypoglycemia and increased resource utilization associated with intravenous insulin therapy. In fact, recommendations of the Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines and other international guidelines for intrapartum glucose control (between 4.0 and 7.0 mmol/L) are based on consensus rather than high quality evidence (3, 33).

### **1.5 Thesis Outline**

Neonatal hypoglycemia remains a common and potentially serious adverse outcome following pregnancies with diabetes. While current dogma suggests tight intrapartum control is essential to decrease the risk of neonatal hypoglycemia, it is unclear if this is evidence based. Through the work contained in this thesis, we set out to better understand the relationship between neonatal hypoglycemia and intrapartum glycemic control.

In chapter 2, we describe the results of our systematic review of the literature examining this relationship (34). This includes a compilation and assessment of the available studies in women with Type 1, Type 2, and gestational diabetes.

In chapter 3, we describe the results of our retrospective cohort study examining the relationship between neonatal hypoglycemia and intrapartum glycemic control in women with Type 1, Type 2 and gestational diabetes. For this study, we created a new dataset through the linkage of various databases. Ours is the largest cohort to date examining the association of intrapartum glycemic control with neonatal hypoglycemia.

Finally, in chapter 4 we summarize the findings of this thesis. We conclude with the implications on health policy and future directions for research.

### 1.6 Figures

### **Figure 1.1: Types of Diabetes in Pregnancy**



Figure 1.2: Diagram of Theoretical Relationship between Maternal Intrapartum Hyperglycemia and Neonatal Hypoglycemia



## Chapter Two: Intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia in pregnancies complicated by diabetes: a systematic review

This chapter is published as:

**Yamamoto JM**, Benham J, Mohammad K, Donovan LE, Wood S. *Intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycaemia in pregnancies complicated by diabetes – A systematic review*. Diabet Med. 2018 Feb;35(2):173-183. doi: 10.1111/dme.13546. (34)

### 2.1 Abstract

**Aims:** To examine whether, in neonates of mothers with Type 1, Type 2 and gestational diabetes, in-target intrapartum glycemic control was associated with a lower risk of neonatal hypoglycemia compared with out-of-target glycemic control.

**Methods:** We searched PubMed and EMBASE for all available publications, regardless of year, based on a published protocol (PROSPERO CRD42016052439). Studies were excluded if they did not report original data or were animal studies. Data were extracted from published reports in duplicate using a pre-specified data extraction form. The main outcome of interest was the association between in-target intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia.

**Results:** We screened 2846 records for potential study inclusion; 23 studies, including approximately 2835 women with diabetes, were included in the systematic review. Only two of those studies specifically examined in-target vs out-of- target intrapartum glycemic control. Of the studies included, six showed a relationship between intrapartum glucose and neonatal hypoglycemia, five others showed a relationship in at least one of the analyses performed and 12 did not find a significant relationship. Only one study was identified as having a low risk of bias.

**Conclusions:** There is a paucity of high-quality data supporting the association of glucose during labour and delivery with neonatal hypoglycemia in pregnancies complicated by diabetes. Further studies are required to examine the impact of tight glycemic targets in labour.

### **2.2 Introduction**

Neonatal hypoglycemia is a common and potentially serious outcome in pregnancies complicated by diabetes (24, 35). The spectrum of neonatal hypoglycemia is wide and ranges from mild and easily treated hypoglycemia to severe and prolonged hypoglycemia, requiring admission to the neonatal intensive care unit. In women with diabetes, maternal hyperglycemia has been shown to trigger an acute rise in fetal insulin (23). Tight glucose control during labour aims to prevent this rise in fetal insulin in response to maternal hyperglycemia, with the goal of decreasing the risk of neonatal hypoglycemia (23, 36). During labour and delivery, glycemic control is often achieved or maintained by insulin therapy, administered subcutaneously or intravenously. This requires additional close monitoring throughout labour because insulin therapy at time of delivery is associated with maternal hypoglycemia in up to 56% of women with Type 1 diabetes (24).

The literature regarding the importance of glucose control during labour is inconsistent (23, 25-28). A review carried out by Ryan and Al-Agha (23) in 2014 found 19 studies that sought to examine the relationship between maternal glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia. Of the 19 studies identified, 10 found a significant inverse relationship between intrapartum maternal glucose and offspring glucose levels and nine did not demonstrate a significant effect. That review was limited in that it was not clear if rigorous systematic methods were used and there was no assessment of the quality of studies it included.

Currently, intensive intrapartum glucose control is the standard of care despite these conflicting data. Both the Diabetes Canada 2013 Clinical Practice Guidelines and the National Institute for

Health and Care Excellence (NICE) guidelines for diabetes in pregnancy recommend intrapartum glucose control (4.0–7.0 mmol/L) (37, 38); however, no rigorous systematic reviews have been performed on this subject.

To address this gap, we performed a systematic review to examine whether, in neonates of mothers with Type 1, Type 2 or gestational diabetes, in-target intrapartum glycemic control was associated with a lower risk of neonatal hypoglycemia compared with out-of-target glycemic control.

### 2.3 Methods

We performed a systematic review based on a pre-published protocol (PROSPERO CRD42016052439) and reported it in accordance with specifications recommended by the Meta-Analysis of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) guidelines (39).

### 2.3.1 Search strategy and selection criteria

PubMed and EMBASE were searched in duplicate using the strategy outlined in Supplementary Table 2.1 for all available time periods after consultation with a medical librarian. The references of all included articles were also hand-searched by both reviewers to identify potential additional articles for inclusion. Local experts in the field were consulted for additional studies.

An initial screen of titles and abstracts was performed independently by two reviewers (JY and JB) to identify articles that required further review. Articles were included if they reported on neonatal hypoglycemia after pregnancies complicated by diabetes, analyzed by intrapartum

glycemic control. Studies were excluded from the systematic review if they did not report on original data or were animal studies. Studies were not excluded based on language, study type or publication status.

As per our pre-specified protocol, all types of maternal diabetes were included and no restrictions on the definition of diabetes were imposed. Either of the following definitions of in-target glycemic control were included: a single glucose value closest to and prior to delivery or a given proportion of glucose values during labour and delivery that was/were considered in-target as specified by the authors. Any definition of neonatal hypoglycemia was accepted if it included at least one of the following: a specific glucose cut-off level; neonate requiring treatment with glucose administered intravenously/orally; or symptoms of hypoglycemia.

Based on the above criteria, two reviewers determined study eligibility by screening all titles and abstracts from retrieved studies, as well as full papers when necessary. Kappa statistics for both the title and abstracts as well as the full-text review were calculated to assess inter-rater agreement.

### 2.3.2 Data analysis

Two reviewers (JB and JY) independently extracted data using a pre-specified extraction form. Discrepancies between reviewers were resolved by consensus with discussion between the two reviewers. Extracted data elements included: general information, eligibility criteria, study characteristics (including design, country, type of diabetes, sample size), definition of diabetes, intrapartum glucose target, definition of neonatal hypoglycemia, and definition of maternal

hypoglycemia, as well as details of the results including percent neonatal hypoglycemia, percent of maternal hypoglycemia, effect size of intrapartum glycemic control, percentage of large-forgestational-age neonates, percentage of preterm deliveries, and mode of delivery. When available, both unadjusted and adjusted odds ratios with 95% CIs were extracted from the studies included. Data were managed using Microsoft Excel (version 14.4.8, Microsoft Corporation).

Each reviewer assessed study quality independently based on the following domains: participation; attrition; prognostic factor measurement; outcome measurement; statistical analysis; and confounding measure and account (Supplementary Table 2.2) (40). Studies were scored as having a high risk, a low risk or an unclear risk of bias based on each of these domains. Only studies that scored as low-risk on each of the six domains were classified as having a low risk of bias.

### 2.4 Results

We screened 2846 records for potential study inclusion. After title and abstract review, full-text review was performed on 86 articles. Of those, 23 studies were included in the systematic review (Fig. 2.1). Only two of those studies specifically examined in-target vs out-of-target intrapartum glycemic control (25, 41). The kappa statistic for inter-rater agreement for inclusion after the title and abstract review was 0.30 (95% CI 0.23,0.37), and for the full-text review it was 0.77 (95% CI 0.56, 0.99).

### 2.4.1 Study characteristics

Details of the study characteristics are found in Table 2.1 (24, 25, 27, 28, 41-59). All 23 studies identified were cohort studies. While some cohorts were based on randomized trials, we did not identify any trials randomizing intrapartum glycemic targets in women with diabetes that met our inclusion criteria. The 23 studies included ~2835 women with diabetes. We are unable to report an exact number of participants included because not all studies reported on the number of mothers. Of the women included, 867 had Type 1 diabetes, 244 had Type 2 diabetes, 1428 had gestational diabetes, 235 had 'insulin-dependent' diabetes and 61 were unclear. Of the studies included, seven comprised only women with Type 1 diabetes and four comprised only women with Type 1 diabetes, Type 2 diabetes, gestational diabetes and/or insulin- dependent diabetes. All studies were performed in North America, Europe, New Zealand, or Australia. Studies ranged in size from 15 to 733 women.

The intrapartum glucose targets are shown in Table 2.1. The highest upper limit was 8 mmol/L and the lowest lower limit was 2.8 mmol/L. The definitions of neonatal hypoglycemia were variable and ranged from glucose levels <1.5 mmol/L to <2.6 mmol/L. Most definitions were based on neonatal glucose alone, but some included symptoms, admission to the neonatal intensive care unit or treatment with intravenous glucose.

### 2.4.2 Intrapartum glucose and neonatal hypoglycemia

Of the studies included, six showed a relationship between intrapartum glucose and neonatal hypoglycemia, five other studies found a relationship in at least one of the analyses performed

and 12 studies did not show a statistically significant difference (Table 2.2) (24, 25, 27, 28, 41-59). Because of the small number of studies identified, as well as the heterogeneity of study populations, definitions and analysis, the meta-analysis specified in the published protocol was not performed.

### 2.4.3 Studies that found a relationship

In six studies a relationship between intrapartum glucose and neonatal hypoglycemia was observed (Table 2.2) (42-46, 59). The most recently published of these was a study in 2002 by Taylor et al. (42), who observed a significant correlation between mean maternal blood glucose in labour and neonatal blood glucose (r=-0.33, P<0.001) in 107 women with Type 1 diabetes.

### 2.4.4 Studies with mixed results

In five of the included studies, authors found a relationship between neonatal hypoglycemia and intrapartum maternal glucose in some analyses, but not others (Table 2.2) (24, 25, 47-49). Interestingly, two of these studies used continuous glucose monitoring during labour and delivery (47, 48). Cordua et al. (47) found that women who had infants with hypoglycemia spent a larger percentage of time with glucose levels >7 mmol/L according to the continuous glucose monitor than those who did not; however, there was no difference when the analyses were performed on the self-monitored glucose values (Table 2.2). Stenninger et al. (48) found that higher glucose concentrations obtained by continuous glucose monitors were associated with the need for intravenous glucose at delivery for the neonate; however, they did not show a statistically significant difference between mean maternal glucose and infant glucose

concentrations (Table 2.2). These were the only two studies identified that used continuous glucose monitoring (47, 48).

### 2.4.5 Studies that did not find a relationship

Twelve of the included studies did not find a statistically significant relationship between intrapartum glucose level and neonatal hypoglycemia (Table 2.2) (27, 28, 41, 50-58). These studies included all types of diabetes. The largest of these studies included 733 women with gestational diabetes (50). Using logistic regression, the authors did not find any significant associations between tertiles of glucose control in labour and neonatal hypoglycemia (odds ratio not reported) (50). The largest cohort of women with Type 1 diabetes included 229 pregnancies (in 174 women) and found no correlation between neonatal hypoglycemia at 3 h of life and maternal glycemia during labour (r=0.12, P=0.29); however, they treated all neonates prophylactically with glucagon and triglycerides (53). The second largest cohort of women with Type 1 diabetes studied 161 women and found no statistically significant association between neonatal hypoglycemia and in-target glycemic control, defined as 100% of the time within 4.0 to 6.0 mmol/L, vs out-of-target, defined as 0% of the time in-target, (unadjusted odds ratio 0.41 [95% CI 0.16, 1.05], adjusted odds ratio 0.47 [CI not reported]; P=0.15) (41). None of the included studies examined only women with Type 2 diabetes. Two of these studies had a potential overlap in women (28, 52). All three studies in which exclusion of preterm deliveries was documented did not show an association between intrapartum control and neonatal hypoglycemia (27, 48, 51).

### 2.4.6 Other participant characteristics in included studies

The percentage of participants with preterm delivery ranged from 5.3 to 29.9% and was not reported in 12 of the 23 studies (Table 2.3) (24, 25, 27, 28, 41-59). Three studies excluded preterm deliveries (27, 48, 51). The percentage of infants with macrosomia or who were large for gestational age ranged from 9.4% to 55.6%, and was not reported in 13 of the 23 studies. The percentage of caesarean sections ranged from 12.9% to 75.4%, and six studies did not report on mode of delivery or restricted their analysis to vaginal deliveries only (Table 2.3). The percent of mothers experiencing maternal hypoglycemia during labour and delivery was quite wide (0 to 56.0%), with seven studies not reporting on maternal hypoglycemia.

### 2.4.7 Study quality

Study quality assessment is shown in Table 2.4 (24, 25, 27, 28, 41-59). Only one of the 23 studies included was thought to have a low risk of bias in all six domains assessed (41). The more contemporary studies seemed to have a lower risk of bias than the older studies. Confounding measurement and account was the most frequent quality assessment criterion to be assessed as high or unclear, with only one study clearly adjusting for important confounders (41). While no statistical test can be used to assess differences in results based on risk of bias, in the present study, we note that none of the six studies that showed a significant relationship between intrapartum glucose levels and neonatal hypoglycemia clearly adjusted for known confounders.

### **2.5 Discussion**

In this systematic review, we show that the relationship between intrapartum glucose and neonatal hypoglycemia is inconsistent across studies. Furthermore, we highlight the

heterogeneity of the studies in terms of participants included, intrapartum glucose targets, definitions of neonatal hypoglycemia, adjustment for confounders and analyses used.

Adjustment for known confounders was either not present or unclear in the vast majority of the studies. This could have contributed to the heterogeneity of study conclusions. There are many other risk factors for neonatal hypoglycemia, such as small-for-gestational-age or large-for-gestational-age neonates, preterm delivery, maternal BMI and third trimester glycemic control that have confounded the relationship between maternal and neonatal glucose (8, 15, 60). None of the six studies that consistently found a relationship between neonatal hypoglycemia and intrapartum glucose included an analysis that adjusted for potential confounding factors. Additionally, none of the three studies that excluded preterm delivery, a known risk factor for neonatal hypoglycemia, found an association between intrapartum maternal glucose and neonatal hypoglycemia.

Multiple methods of analysis were used to assess the relationship between intrapartum glucose and neonatal hypoglycemia, such as logistic regression, correlation coefficients, t-tests, chisquared tests and some non-parametric tests. Most of these tests do not permit confounding adjustment. While an inverse correlation between maternal and neonatal glucose or a difference in mean maternal glucose in mothers of neonates with and without hypoglycemia is interesting and hypothesis-generating, it is not clear whether this translates well into clinical practice. It may be more clinically relevant to study whether 'in-target' glucose vs 'out-of-target' glucose is associated with neonatal hypoglycemia as these measures are clinically oriented and potentially achievable. Only two of the studies we examined looked at the association between mothers with

in-target intrapartum glucose levels vs those without (25, 41). These studies had discordant results. Drever et al. (41) did not find a statistically significant association after adjustment for gestational age, first and third trimester HbA1c, pre-pregnancy weight and pre-eclampsia. Whereas Balsells et al. (25) performed 12 models, three of which found a statistically significant relationship. They did not include third trimester HbA1c, small-for-gestational-age neonate, preterm birth or insulin treatment in any of these three models. Lastly, many of these studies performed multiple analyses to examine an association which were not clearly pre-specified. This may have increased the risk of type 1 error.

Changes in diabetes care over time may also have contributed to the heterogeneity of the present study findings. Our review included studies with publication dates ranging from 1978 to 2016. Over these 38 years, diabetes care has changed substantially. We have seen the introduction of short- and long-acting insulin analogues, insulin pens, improved glucose testing devices, increasing use of other technologies, such as the insulin pump and continuous glucose monitors, the publication of important landmark trials in gestational diabetes, and tighter glycemic targets throughout pregnancy (11, 29-31). Glycemic control during pregnancy has been associated with neonatal hypoglycemia in previous studies; therefore, improved diabetes management and more aggressive treatment targets may have played a role in the divergent results of the various studies (11, 16). It is noteworthy that the most recent study to demonstrate a relationship between intrapartum glucose and neonatal hypoglycemia was published in 2002, which raises doubts about the relative impact of glycemic control during pregnancy vs glycemic control intrapartum. Perhaps intrapartum glucose control is less important when glucose control during pregnancy is

optimized.

The most important strength of the present systematic review is its use of rigorous methodology throughout. The study also has some limitations. Firstly, while we can speculate on possible reasons for the heterogeneity of study results, we cannot be certain that these have caused the discordance in the literature. Secondly, many of the studies were small and may have lacked adequate power to detect a clinically significant difference, and alternatively, a small-study effect may have led to publication bias, with small positive studies being more likely to be published than small negative studies. Lastly, because of the heterogeneity of the current literature, we were unable to perform a meta-analysis of included studies.

In conclusion, the present systematic review highlights the paucity of high-quality evidence supporting the association of glycemic control during labour and delivery and neonatal hypoglycemia in pregnancies complicated by Type 1 diabetes, Type 2 diabetes and gestational diabetes. While we recognize that, in theory, there is a pathophysiological mechanism suggesting that hyperglycemia during labour and delivery may increase the risk of neonatal hypoglycemia, given the lack of high-quality studies and discordant results of the available studies, we cannot draw conclusions about the need or lack of need for tight glycemic control based on the available evidence. Given the risk of maternal hypoglycemia, and potential increased need for healthcare resources, large high-quality studies are needed to further examine if there is indeed a role for tight glycemic targets in labour and delivery, such as those recommended in the current guidelines, or if a more relaxed approach is safer, while yielding similar outcomes.

### 2.6 Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Ms. Diane Lorenzetti (Department of Community Health Sciences, University of Calgary, Calgary, Canada) for her advice with our search strategy as well as Dr. Xin Feng for his help with translating articles in Chinese.

### **2.7 Contributors**

JY, JB, LD, KM and SW conceived and designed the study. JY and JB performed the search, data extraction and data analysis. JY wrote the manuscript. JY, JB, LD, KM and SW all participated in the critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content and approved the final version. JY is the guarantor of this work, had full access to all the study data and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data.

## 2.8 Tables and Figures

## Table 2.1: Study Characteristics and Definitions

Study (year)	Country	Type of diabetes	n	Study design	Intrapartum glucose target (mmol/L)	Definition of neonatal hypoglycemia (mmol/L)	Definition of maternal hypoglycemia (mmol/L)	Definition of GDM
Drever et al (2016) (41)	Canada	T1D	161	Retrospective cohort	4-6	<2.6	<3.5	Not applicable
Farrant et al (2017) (50)	New Zealand and Australia	GDM	733	Prospective cohort	<7.0	<2.6 on 2 <sup>+</sup> occasions; <1.6 severe	Not reported	Australian Diabetes in Pregnancy Society
Sargent et al (2015) (51)	USA	T1D	95	Retrospective cohort	3.9-6.7	<2.5 in 1st 24 hours	Not reported	Not applicable
Cordua et al (2013) (47)	Denmark	T1D	27 included in analysis	Prospective cohort	4-7	<2.5 2-hour plasma glucose	<3.0	Not applicable
Flores-le Roux et al (2012) (52)	Spain	GDM	190 infants	Prospective cohort	3.8-7.2	<2.5 (divided by mild, moderate and severe)	<3.3	3rd International Workshop
Flores-Le Roux et al (2010) (28)	Spain	GDM	129	Prospective cohort	≤7.2	<2.2 within the first 24 hours of life	<3.0	3rd International Workshop
Barrett et al (2009) (27)	Australia	T1D T2D GDM	18 5 114 137 total	Retrospective cohort	4-8	<2.6	<4.0	Not reported
Lepercq et al (2008) (53)	France	T1D	174 (229 pregnancies)	Prospective cohort	3.4-7.8	<pre>&lt;2 at 3 hours despite preventative treatment</pre>	≤3.3	Not applicable
Stenninger et al (2008) (48)	Sweden	T1D T2D GDM	15	Prospective cohort	<7.0	<2.2	Not reported	Not reported
Kline et al (2007) (24)	Canada	T1D T2D	59 41 100 total	Retrospective cohort	4-6.5	<pre>&lt;2.2 (or admission to neonatal intensive care for hypoglycemia or treatment with intravenous glucose)</pre>	<4.0	Not applicable
Taylor et al (2002) (42)	UK	T1D	107	Retrospective cohort	4-8	<2.5	<3.0	Not applicable
Agrawal et a (2000) (54)	Australia	T1D T2D GDM	5 (T1D & T2D) 33 38 total;	Prospective cohort	4-8	<2.0	<4.0	75g glucose non- fasting load; if 1 hour glucose >8mmol/L patients had fasting 75g oral
								glucose tolerance test; GDM if fasting >5mmol/L or 2h >8mmol/L
-----------------------------------	-----------	----------------------	---	-----------------------	--------------	--	--------------	---
Balsells et al (2000) (25)	Spain	GDM	85	Prospective cohort	2.8-6.9	2 or more <1.7 for term, <1.1 for preterm or small-for- gestational-age	<2.8	3rd and 4th International Workshops
Carron Brown et al (1999) (49)	UK	T1DM	80 (40 infants had glucose measured)	Retrospective cohort	4-7	<2.2	<3.0	Not applicable
Curet et al (1997) (43)	USA	T1D T2D	77 156 233 total	Prospective cohort	3.3-5.0	<2.2 or signs of hypoglycemia	Not reported	Not applicable
Njenga et al (1992) (55)	UK	T1D	37 (40 pregnancies)	Retrospective cohort	3-6.0	<2.2	Not reported	Not applicable
Stenninger et al (1991) (56)	Sweden	IDD GDM	10 26 36 total	Retrospective cohort	Not reported	<1.5	Not reported	Not reported
Lean et al (1990) (44)	UK	"Insulin treated"	25	Retrospective cohort	3-8	<2.0	Unclear	Not reported
Miodovnik et al (1987) (45)	USA	IDD	100 (122 pregnancies)	Prospective cohort	3.9-5.6	<1.7	Not reported	Not reported
Plehwe et al (1984) (46)	Australia	T1D T2D GDM	72 9 151 232 total	Retrospective cohort	Not reported	<2.2	Not reported	National Diabetes Data Group
Haigh et al (1982) (57)	Canada	IDD	50	Retrospective cohort	Not reported	<1.7	<3.3	Not reported
Yeast et al (1978) (58)	USA	Unclear	16	Retrospective cohort	3.9-7.2	<1.7	Not reported	Not reported
Soler et al. (1978) (59)	UK	IDD	75	Prospective cohort	Not reported	<1.7	<2.2	N/A

T1D, Type 1 diabetes; GDM, Gestational diabetes mellitus; T1D, Type 2 diabetes; IDD, "Insulin Dependent Diabetes"

Study (year)	Analyses Performed	Results	Adjustment for confounders	Relationship: Yes/No
Drever et al (2016) (41)	Unadjusted and adjusted OR analyzing the association between a higher proportion of time spent in target glucose range and neonatal hypoglycemia	Unadjusted OR 0.41 (95% CI 0.16, 1.05) Adjusted OR 0.47, p=0.15	Yes (Both adjusted and unadjusted)	No
Farrant et al (2017) (50)	Tertiles of glucose control and neonatal hypoglycemia	No significant association (OR not reported)	Unclear	No
Sargent et al (2015) (51)	Mean intrapartum glucose of mothers of infants with and without neonatal hypoglycemia	No difference (6.1mmol/L (IQR 5.6, 6.9) and 6.3mmol/L (IQR 5.7, 7.3) respectively, p=0.207)	No	No
	Last glucose before delivery of mothers of infants with and without neonatal hypoglycemia	No difference (5.8mmol/L (IQR 5.3, 6.7) and 6.7mmol/L (IQR 5.5, 7.8) respectively, p= 0.073)		
Cordua et al (2013) (47)	% of time >7.0mmol/L by continuous glucose monitor in mothers of infants with neonatal hypoglycemia versus those without	17% vs 4% respectively (p=0.02)	No	Yes and No
	% of self-monitored glucoses >7.0mmol/L in mothers of infants with neonatal hypoglycemia versus those without	No difference (26% vs 9% respectively, p=0.17)		
	Linear regression of median maternal self-monitored plasma glucose and 2-hour plasma glucose of infant	No relationship (r=-0.39, p=0.45)		
Flores-le Roux et al (2012) (52)	Mean glucose in mothers of infants with and without neonatal hypoglycemia	No difference (5.4±1.07mmol/L and 5.5±1.07mmol/L respectively, p=0.740)	No	No
	Delivery glucose in mothers of infants with and without neonatal hypoglycemia	No difference $(5.7\pm1.18 \text{ mmol/L} \text{ and} 5.7\pm1.18 \text{ mmol/L}, p=0.912)$		
Flores-Le Roux et al (2010) (28)	Mean maternal glucose during labour	No difference (p=0.11)	No	No
	Any glucose $\geq$ 7.2mmol/L	No difference (p=0.95)		
	Delivery glucose	No difference (p=0.09)		
Barrett et al (2009) (27)	Maternal glucose prior to delivery and first neonatal glucose	No relationship (R square 0.003)	No	No
Lepercq et al (2008) (53)	Neonatal hypoglycemia and maternal glycemia during labour	No correlation (r=0.12, p=0.29)	No	No
	Glucose at delivery	No correlation (r=-0.3, p=0.71) Note: (glucagon and medium-chain triglycerides routinely used)		

# Table 2.2: Study Results Analyzing Relationship Between Intrapartum Glucose and Neonatal Hypoglycemia

Stenninger et al (2008) (48)	Association of area under the curve at 0-120 min and need for intravenous glucose	Association found (p=0.028)	No	Yes and No
	Association of mean glucose concentrations in mothers whose infants did require intravenous glucose versus those who did not	Association found (7.5±2.2mmol/L and 5.3±1.5mmol/L respectively, p=0.028)		
	Mean maternal glucose concentrations before delivery and infant glucose concentration	No relationship (p-value not reported)		
Kline et al (2007)	Neonatal glucose <2.2 mmol/L	Unadjusted OR 3.0 (95% CI 1.2-7.9), p=0.037	No	Yes and No
(24)	Admission to neonatal intensive care unit for hypoglycemia	Unadjusted OR 2.0 (95% CI 0.88, 4.6), p=0.140		
	Admission to neonatal intensive care unit or received intravenous glucose	Unadjusted OR 1.71 (95% CI 0.75, 3.9), p=0.280		
Taylor et al (2002) (42)	Correlation between neonatal glucose and mean maternal glucose in labour	Significant correlation (r=-0.33, p<0.001)	No	Yes
	Correlation between neonatal glucose and mean maternal glucose in labour when maternal blood glucose within target range	No relationship (p-value not reported)		
Agrawal et a (2000) (54)	Mean maternal glucose between infants with and without hypoglycemia	No difference (4.93±1.11mmol/L and 4.98±1.07mmol/L, p=0.879)	No	No
Balsells et al (2000) (25)	Mean or highest glucose during labour, mean or highest glucose in last 4 hours	No difference	Yes and No	Yes and No
	Mean or highest glucose in last 2 hours	No difference ("Non-significant", p-values not reported)		
	12 logistic regression models:	8 models found no association and 3 models reached significance reported below:		
	Maximal glucose in labour	OR 18.47, p<0.05		
	Maximal glucose during last 4 nours of labour Mean blood glucose in last 2 hours of labour	OR 18.51, $p < 0.05$ OR 18.68, $p < 0.05$ (CIs not reported)		
Carron Brown et al (1999) (49)	Mean maternal glucose at delivery in mothers of neonates with hypoglycemia versus all other women	7.7+/-3.8mmol/L and 4.9+/-2.8mmol/L respectively (p=0.05)	No	Yes and No
	Correlation between first recorded neonatal glucose and maternal glucose at delivery	No correlation (r=-0.35; p=0.08)		

	Correlation of maternal blood glucose on neonatal blood glucose if within target range	No correlation (p-value not reported)		
	Blood glucose of infants if maternal blood glucose was >10mmol/L	The infants blood glucose was always low (glucose of 1.3±0.8mmol/L versus 2.5±1.5mmol/L; p<0.02)		
Curet et al (1997) (43)	Intrapartum glucose of mothers of infants with neonatal hypoglycemia versus mothers of infants without	5.9±2.9mmol/L versus 4.5±1.8mmol/L respectively (p<0.05)	No	Yes
		(Note: the last 125 patients not included in analysis because they were "in-target")		
Njenga et al (1992) (55)	Mean maternal glucose at delivery for mothers of neonates with and without hypoglycemia	No difference $(4.3 \pm 1.4 \text{ vs } 4.7 \pm 1.6 \text{ respectively}; p>0.7)$	No	No
Stenninger et al (1991) (56)	Correlation between blood glucose of the mother at delivery and the glucose of the infant	No correlation (p-value not reported)	No	No
Lean et al (1990) (44)	Correlation between neonatal glucose and maternal glucose at delivery was found	An inverse relationship found (r <sub>s</sub> =-0.58, p<0.01)	No	Yes
Miodovnik et al (1987) (45)	Correlation between the lowest infant glucose concentration in the first 4 hours of life and the highest maternal glucose within 4 hours before delivery	Significant correlation (r=-0.29, p=0.002)	No	Yes
	Percentage of infants with neonatal hypoglycemia in mothers with a glucose >5 during the last 4 hours before delivery versus those without	47% versus 14%, (p=0.0003)		
Plehwe et al (1984) (46)	Infants of those mothers whose maximum glucose >10mmol/L or mean glucose >8mmol/L or nadir >6mmol/L	All more likely to have documented hypoglycemia (p=0.0007, 0.0204, 0.0132)	No	Yes
Haigh et al (1982) (57)	Correlation between the maternal glucose during labour and the glucose in the newborns	No correlation	No	No
Yeast et al (1978) (58)	Association between glucose in mother and the incidence or severity of neonatal hypoglycemia	No association	No	No
Soler et al. (1978) (59)	Incidence of neonatal hypoglycemia by mean maternal glucose in the following groups <5, 5-7.2 and >7.2mmol/L	Significant difference (p<0.025)	No	Yes

OR: Odds Ratio; IQR: Interquartile range; CI: confidence interval

Study (year)	n (%) neonatal hypoglycemia	n (%) maternal hypoglycemia	n (%) preterm delivery	n (%) Large-for-gestational- age or macrosomia	n (%) Caesarian section
Drever et al (2016) (41)	60 (39.0)	50 (31.1)	33 (20.6)	33 (20.5)	96 (60)
Farrant et al (2017) (50)	124 (16.9)	Not reported	72 (9.8)	Not reported	273 (37.2)
Sargent et al (2015) (51)	62 (66.0)	Not reported	≥36 weeks only	31 (32.6)	66 (69.5)
Cordua et al (2013) (47)	10 (37.0)	3.5% of glucose values	5 (19.0)	15 (55.6)	7 (25.9)
Flores-le Roux et al (2012) (52)	48 (25.3)	0 (0)	10 (5.3)	30 (15.8)	68 (35.8)
Flores-Le Roux et al (2010) (28)	15 (11.8)	0 (0)	7 (5.4)	12 (9.4)	43 (33.6)
Barrett et al (2009) (27)	34 (24.8)	11 (8.0)	$\geq$ 37 weeks only	18 (13.1)	74 (54.0)
Lepercq et al (2008) (53)	30 (13.1)	16 (7.0)	25.8%	Not reported	158 (69.0)
Stenninger et al (2008) (48)	9 (60.0)	Not reported	$\geq$ 37 weeks only	Not reported	0 (0)
Kline et al (2007) (24)	69 (69.0)	56 (56.0)	Not reported	Not reported	49 (49.0)
Taylor et al (2002) (42)	50 (46.7)	13 (12.1)	32 (29.9)	39 (36.4)	53 (49.5)
Agrawal et al (2000) (54)	18 (47.4)	2 (5.3)	Not reported	Not reported	18 (47.4)
Balsells et al (2000) (25)	5 (5.9)	28 (32.9)	Not reported	Not reported	11 (12.9)
Carron Brown et al (1999) (49)	19 (47.5) <sup>a</sup>	18 (22.5)	Not reported	Not reported (43.1)	41 (51.3)
Curet et al (1997) (43)	38 (16.5)	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported
Njenga et al (1992) (55)	7 (17.5)	4 (19.0) <sup>b</sup>	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported
Stenninger et al (1991) (56)	14 (38.5)	Not reported	Not reported	10 (27.8)	Not reported
Lean et al (1990) (44)	11 (44.0)	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	13 (52.0)

T٤	ıb	le	2	3:	Pregnancy	Characterist	tics	from	Inclu	ded	Studi	ies

Miodovnik et al (1987) (45)	44 (36.0)	Not reported	Not reported	53 (43.4)	92 (75.4)
Plehwe et al (1984) (46)	$41(18.5)^{c}$	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported
Haigh et al (1982) (57)	7 (14.0)	24 (48.0)	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported
Yeast et al (1978) (58)	$4(23.5)^{d}$	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported	Not reported
Soler et al. (1978) (59)	15 (20.0)	0 (0)	Not reported	Not reported	41 (54.7)

<sup>a</sup>Only measured 40 of 80 infants included; <sup>b</sup>Reported on 21 of the 38 participants included; <sup>c</sup>Based on number of live births; <sup>d</sup>Of the 17 infants included

<b>Table 2.4:</b>	Assessment	of Study	Quality
-------------------	------------	----------	---------

Risk of bias by potential source	Drever et al. (2016) (41)	Farrant et al. (2017) (50)	Sargent et al. (2015) [51]	Cordua et al. (2013) (47)	Flores-Le Roux et al. (2012) (52)	Flores-Le Roux et al. (2010) (28)	Barrett et al. (2009) (27)	Lepercq et al. (2008) (53)	Stenninger et al. (2008) (48)	Kline et al. (2007) <b>(</b> 24 <b>)</b>	Taylor et al. (2002) <b>(</b> 42 <b>)</b>	Agrawal et al (2000) (54)	Balsells et al. (2000) (25)	Carron Brown et al. (1999) <b>(</b> 49 <b>)</b>	Curet et al. (1997) (43)	Njenga et al. (1992) (55)	Stenninger et a. (1991) (56)	Lean et al. (1990) <b>(</b> 44 <b>)</b>	Miodovnik et al. (1987) <b>(</b> 45 <b>)</b>	Plehwe et al (1984) <b>(</b> 46 <b>)</b>	Haigh et al. (1982) (57)	Yeast et al. (1978) <b>(58)</b>	Soler et al. (1978) <b>(</b> 59 <b>)</b>
Study participation	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	Н	?	L	Н	Н	?	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н
Attrition	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	?	Н	?	?	?	?	L	?	?	?	?	?	?
Prognostic factor measurement	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	?	?	Н	?	?	L	?	Н	Н	Н	Н	?	?
Outcome measurement	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	L	Н	L	L	L	L	L	?	?	L	L
Confounding measurement and account	L	?	?	Н	?	Н	Н	?	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н
Analysis	L	?	L	Н	Н	Н	Н	L	Н	L	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	Н	?	Н

L = low risk of bias; H = high risk of bias; ? = unclear risk of bias



### **Figure 2.1: Study Selection Flow Chart**

# 2.9 Supplementary Material

## Supplementary Table 2.1: Search Strategy

PubMed search terms	EMBASE search terms			
"diabetes mellitus"[MeSH Terms] OR diabet*	exp diabetes mellitus/ or diabetes * .tw.			
AND "labor, obstetric"[MeSH] OR "labor"[tiab] OR "labour"[tiab] OR "parturition"[MeSH] OR "parturition"[tiab] OR "delivery, obstetric"[MeSH] OR intrapartum OR "peripartum period"[MeSH]	AND exp obstetric delivery/ or labour.tw. or exp labor/ or partuirition.tw. or exp birth/ or peripartum.tw. AND			
OR "peripartum"[tiab]	exp glycemic control/ or glycemi*.tw. or exp glucose blood level/ or exp glucose/ or exp insulin/ or insulin.tw. or protocol.tw.			
"glucose"[MeSH] OR "glucose"[tiab] OR glycemi* OR "insulins"[MeSH] OR "insulin"[tiab] OR "protocol"[tiab]	limit to human			

Area of potential bias	Classification procedure							
Study participation	<ul> <li>Quality item classified as present if all of the following criteria are met:</li> <li>1) Source population or population of interest is adequately described</li> <li>2) The sampling frame and recruitment are adequately described, possibly included methods to identify the sample, period of recruitment and place of recruitment.</li> <li>3) Inclusion and exclusion criteria adequately described.</li> <li>4) There is adequate participation in the study by eligible individuals.</li> <li>5) The key baseline characteristics of study population are described.</li> </ul>							
Attrition	<ul> <li>Quality item classified as present if one of the following criteria are met:</li> <li>1) Response rate is adequate.</li> <li>2) Reasons for lost to follow up are provided.</li> <li>3) There are no important differences between key characteristics and outcomes in participants who completed the study and those who did not.</li> </ul>							
Prognostic factor measurement	<ul> <li>Quality item classified as present if all of the following criteria are met: <ol> <li>A clear definition of in-target glucose control is provided.</li> <li>Glucose is reported or appropriate (i.e. not data-dependent) cut-points are used.</li> <li>The glucose measurement method is adequately valid and reliable to limit misclassification.</li> <li>Adequate proportion of the study sample has complete data for intrapartum glycemic control.</li> <li>The method and setting of measurement are the same for all study participants</li> <li>Appropriate methods are used if imputation is used for missing glucose values.</li> </ol> </li> </ul>							
Outcome measurement	Quality item classified as present if a clear definition of neonatal hypoglycemia was provided and applied uniformly across study participants.							
Confounding measurement and account	<ul> <li>Quality item classified as present if all of the following criteria met<sup>1</sup>:</li> <li>1) Important confounders are measured.</li> <li>2) The potentially important confounders were appropriately accounted for in the analysis.</li> </ul>							
Analysis	<ul> <li>Quality item classified as present if all of the following criteria met:</li> <li>1) There was sufficient presentation of data to assess the adequacy of the analysis.</li> <li>2) The selected statistical model was adequate for the design of the study.</li> </ul>							

Supplementary Table 2.2: Assessment of Study Quality

Adapted from Hayden et al. (40)

Chapter Three: Neonatal hypoglycemia and intrapartum glycemic control in pregnancies complicated by Type 1, Type 2 and gestational diabetes

#### **3.1 Abstract**

**Aims/Hypothesis**: To determine if in-target intrapartum glucose control is associated with neonatal hypoglycemia in women with Type 1, Type 2 and gestational diabetes.

**Methods**: This was a retrospective cohort study of pregnant women with Type 1, Type 2 and gestational diabetes and their neonates. Information was collected on consecutive women who attended specialized interdisciplinary clinics from 2009-2014 and database linkages were performed. The primary exposure was in-target glucose control defined as all capillary blood glucoses within 3.5 and 6.5 mmol/L during the intrapartum period. The primary outcome, neonatal hypoglycemia, was defined as treatment of the neonate with intravenous dextrose therapy. Multiple logistic regression was used to examine the association between maternal intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia, adjusting for important covariates.

**Results**: A total of 6740 maternal infant pairs were included in this cohort study. Intrapartum glucose testing was available for 157 (86.3%), 267 (76.3%), and 3256 (52.4%) women with Type 1, Type 2 and gestational diabetes respectively. In the univariate analysis, in-target glycemic control was significantly associated with neonatal hypoglycemia in women with gestational diabetes, but not in women with Type 1 or 2 diabetes. However, after adjustment for important neonatal factors (large for gestational age, preterm delivery and infant sex), intrapartum in-target glycemic control was not significantly associated with neonatal hypoglycemia in women regardless of their type of diabetes.

**Conclusions/interpretation**: There was no significant association between in-target glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia after adjustment for neonatal factors. Given the high risk of maternal hypoglycemia and the resources required for intravenous insulin therapy, guidelines and future trials should consider whether more relaxed intrapartum glycemic targets may be safer in women with diabetes in pregnancy.

#### **3.2 Background**

Diabetes continues to be a common complication in pregnancy worldwide (1). Gestational diabetes accounts for most hyperglycemia in pregnancy and pre-existing diabetes, primarily Type 1 and Type 2, make up the remainder. Unfortunately, pregnancies in women with diabetes are associated with an increased risk of both maternal and fetal complications (4, 7, 61). Neonatal hypoglycemia is one such risk and is common in pregnancies with diabetes (8, 18, 61). Its definition is quite contentious, but is generally based on a blood glucose level, signs of hypoglycemia and/or need for treatment (14, 61).

The spectrum of neonatal hypoglycemia is wide and ranges from mild and easily treated hypoglycemia to severe and prolonged hypoglycemia requiring admission to the neonatal intensive care unit. Though its incidence varies depending on the population and definition used, neonatal hypoglycemia requiring intravenous dextrose is diagnosed in ~5-7% of offspring of women with gestational diabetes mellitus and ~25% of offspring of women with Type 1 diabetes (18, 30, 31). While there is little controversy that severe and untreated neonatal hypoglycemia can cause serious neurologic injury, more recent studies suggest that even treated neonatal hypoglycemia may be associated with neurodevelopmental impairment into childhood (21).

Current guidelines recommend intensive intrapartum glycemic control (target glucose of 4.0 to 7.0 mmol/L) based on the theory that this will decrease the risk of neonatal hypoglycemia by preventing a rise in fetal insulin in the hours prior to delivery (3, 33). Tight glycemic control is generally achieved through use of insulin therapy, administered subcutaneously or intravenously. This requires additional close monitoring throughout labour by the hospital staff who often lack

expertise in diabetes care. Furthermore, the risk of harm from maternal hypoglycemia and increased resource utilization must also be weighed against the theoretical benefit of tight glycemic control in labour and delivery.

There are clear risk factors associated with neonatal hypoglycemia such as preterm delivery and large for gestational age (8, 61, 62). Most studies examining intrapartum glycemic control did not adjust for these factors which predate the short intrapartum period (34). For example, in both Type 1 and gestational diabetes, infant size and adiposity have been associated with neonatal hypoglycemia (8, 61, 62). As both are established prior to labour and delivery, it seems less likely that minor changes during the intrapartum period could substantially lower the risk of neonatal hypoglycemia. Large high quality studies are needed to address whether in-target intrapartum glycemic control is associated with neonatal hypoglycemia when considering important neonatal confounders.

Our aim was to determine if in-target glucose control during labour and delivery is associated with neonatal hypoglycemia in women with Type 1, Type 2 and gestational diabetes after adjustment for neonatal confounders.

#### 3.3 Methods

We performed a retrospective cohort study of pregnant women with Type 1, Type 2 and gestational diabetes and their neonates. Ethics approval was obtained from the Conjoint Heath Research Ethics Board, University of Calgary (REB16-2093). The study protocol was registered online prior to obtaining the data (https://osf.io/37edr/).

#### 3.3.1 Study population

Information was collected on consecutive women with a diagnosis of Type 1, Type 2 or gestational diabetes who attended specialized interdisciplinary clinics from January  $1^{st}$ , 2007 to December  $31^{st}$  2014 in four tertiary care hospitals in Calgary, Alberta, Canada. Calgary is a city of ~1.4 million with an ethnically diverse population (63).

For inclusion in the study, women required a preconception diagnosis of diabetes or a diagnosis of gestational diabetes. Women were excluded if they had any of the following: moved out of the study area, delivered outside of the study area, had an unclear definition of type of diabetes, had an unknown expected date of confinement, or if they delivered after the study period had ended. Women who had a multiple gestation pregnancy were included in the analysis. For women with multiple pregnancies during the study period or multiple gestation, one pregnancy or neonate was randomly chosen for inclusion in the study.

#### 3.3.2 Data sources and collection

Demographic and outcome data were obtained through multiple databases including the Alberta Perinatal Health Program database, the Analytics database, the Sunrise Clinical Management system, the diabetes in pregnancy clinical database, and lab information systems for Calgary, Central and South Zone, all linked by a unique health identification number.

Most neonatal outcome and pregnancy data were obtained from the Alberta Perinatal Health Program database. The Alberta Perinatal Health Program (<u>www.aphp.ca</u>) database includes information collected on the provincial delivery record regarding pregnancy, delivery, and neonatal outcome data for all hospital and registered midwife-attended home births in Alberta, Canada. Details on the type of diabetes and treatment of diabetes (i.e. insulin, other diabetes medication, diabetes duration) were obtained from the diabetes in pregnancy clinical database used at all four tertiary care diabetes in pregnancy clinics. The diabetes in pregnancy clinical database is a clinical record used by doctors, nurses and dieticians that provide diabetes care to these patients.

In hospital maternal glucose values, maternal insulin use during labour and delivery, and intravenous dextrose treatment of neonates were obtained using the provincial health services Analytics database and the Sunrise Clinical Management system (an electronic system used at all four hospitals). Laboratory data regarding antenatal glycemic control (i.e. HbA1c or oral glucose tolerance tests [OGTT] where available) were obtained from the lab information systems for Calgary, Central and South Zone. Information on neonates was obtained by using their unique identification number identified by the delivery record and from the Alberta Perinatal Health Program. The data source for each variable included is summarized in Supplementary Table 3.1.

#### 3.3.3 Local guidelines

All women with diabetes are to have a capillary glucose test at the onset of active labour (64). For women with Type 1 diabetes and Type 2 diabetes, glucose testing is recommended every 1 hours during active labour. For women with gestational diabetes, if they have a glucose <6.5 mmol/L in active labour, no additional testing, insulin, or endocrine consult is required. If women with gestational diabetes have 2 consecutive glucoses >6.5 mmol/L, an endocrine consult

is recommended for consideration of insulin treatment. Anyone on an intravenous insulin infusion requires hourly capillary glucose monitoring regardless of the type of diabetes.

Guidelines for the local screening and management of neonatal hypoglycemia recommend that all neonates of mothers with diabetes be screened within 30 minutes (65). Subsequent glucose testing is dependent upon initial glucose value. At minimum, it is recommended that repeat glucose testing is done every 1-2 hours before feeds until glucose stability is achieved in all infants at risk of hypoglycemia.

#### 3.3.4 Definitions and outcome measures

The primary exposure of interest was intrapartum maternal glycemic control. The *a priori* definition of in-target glucose control was all capillary blood glucoses within 3.5 and 6.5 mmol/L during the intrapartum period. This is based on local clinical practice guideline targets and protocols. The intrapartum period was defined as up to 24 hours prior to delivery in keeping with the previously published literature (19, 62, 66). We also examined the *a priori* outcomes of proportion of glucoses in-target (50% and 25% between 3.5 and 6.5 mmol/L), and overt hyperglycemia in labour (i.e. women with blood glucoses  $\geq$  8.6 mmol/L). Maternal hypoglycemia during labour and delivery was defined as any recorded glucose of <3.5 mmol/L.

Type of diabetes was determined based on the diagnosis entered by the diabetes in pregnancy clinicians into the clinical database. For women who were seen in the diabetes in pregnancy clinic but did not have a type of diabetes listed or with an uncertain diagnosis of diabetes, chart review was performed to determine the type of diabetes. Additional maternal characteristics

collected included: maternal age at time of delivery, parity, pre-pregnancy weight >91kg, smoking during pregnancy, pre-existing and gestational hypertension, diabetes medication, and insulin use. Trimester-specific HbA1c, was defined as the mean HbA1c for each trimester (conception to 12 weeks + 6 days, first trimester, 13 to 27 weeks + 6 days, second trimester and 28 weeks to term, third trimester).

Our *a priori* primary outcome, neonatal hypoglycemia, was defined as treatment of the neonate with intravenous dextrose therapy. Additional neonatal outcome data included: sex, mode of delivery, birth gestational age, admission to the neonatal intensive care unit, preterm delivery (<37 weeks gestation), very preterm delivery (<34 weeks gestation), birthweight and size for gestational age. Neonates were defined as large for gestational age, extreme large for gestational age and small for gestational age if their birth weight was >90<sup>th</sup>, >97<sup>th</sup> and <10<sup>th</sup> percentile respectively based on national population references for age and sex (67).

#### 3.3.5 Statistical analysis

Data were compared using chi-square tests for categorical variables and t-tests for continuous variables after assuring that assumptions of each test were met. An *a priori* decision was made to stratify all analyses by type of diabetes (Type 1, Type 2, and gestational). Multiple logistic regression was used to examine the association between maternal intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia, adjusting for important covariates. In the development of the final regression models, we assessed for effect modification by preterm delivery and large for gestational age using a likelihood-ratio test. The univariate analysis, existing literature and clinical knowledge were used to inform variable choice in the models. Additionally, we

considered the number of neonates with hypoglycemia when deciding on included variables to avoid over-fitting of the models. In cases of variable multicollinearity, the variable with the strongest association across the types of diabetes was included. All analyses were performed using STATA (Stata Corp. LP, College Station, TX, Version 14.1). A p-value of <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

#### 3.4 Results

A total of 9686 maternal records were identified from the diabetes in pregnancy database (Figure 1). After database merging, exclusion of pregnancies not meeting inclusion criteria and the random selection of one pregnancy or neonate per woman, 8451 mother infant pairs were identified. Because the primary exposure, intrapartum glycemic control, was missing for >90% of pregnancies in 2007 and 2008 only but missing data were stable for the years thereafter, it is likely that charting on the electronic system was not routinely done until 2009. We therefore chose to exclude pregnancies prior to 2009. A total of 6740 maternal infant pairs were included in this cohort study.

Maternal characteristics by type of diabetes are displayed in Table 3.1. Of the 6740 women included, 182 had Type 1 diabetes, 350 had Type 2 diabetes and 6208 had gestational diabetes. Insulin was used in 182 (100%) women with Type 1 diabetes, 314 (89.7%) women with Type 2 diabetes and 1953 (31.5%) women with gestational diabetes. Intrapartum intravenous insulin infusion was used in 111 (61.0%) women with Type 1 diabetes, 58 (16.6%) women with Type 2 diabetes and only 61 (1.0%) women with gestational diabetes.

Neonatal characteristics are displayed in Table 3.2. The number of infants with neonatal hypoglycemia was 50 (27.5%), 64 (18.3%), and 313 (5.0%) for women with Type 1, Type 2, and gestational diabetes respectively. Infants of mothers with Type 1 diabetes were more likely to have neonatal complications including neonatal hypoglycemia, preterm delivery, neonatal intensive care unit admission, large for gestational age and extreme large for gestational age compared to women with Type 2 and gestational diabetes. Infants of mothers with gestational diabetes were least likely to have these complications.

#### 3.4.1 Intrapartum glycemic control

Intrapartum glucose testing was available for 157 (86.3%), 267 (76.2%), and 3256 (52.4%) women with Type 1, Type 2 and gestational diabetes respectively. To ensure there were no intrapartum glycemic control data lost from database extraction, the charts of women who had Type 1 diabetes and no intrapartum glucose data (n=25) were all reviewed. It was confirmed that none of those women had glucose data recorded prior to delivery.

We examined for important differences between women with and without intrapartum testing (Supplementary Table 3.2). Women with Type 1 diabetes with and without intrapartum glycemic control data did not significantly differ. Women with Type 2 diabetes who had intrapartum testing had a significantly lower  $3^{rd}$  trimester HbA1c than women who did not ( $6.3 \pm 0.8 \text{ vs } 6.6 \pm 1.0 \text{ respectively}$ ; p=0.007) but did not differ otherwise. Women with gestational diabetes who had intrapartum testing compared to those who did not were younger ( $32.8 \pm 4.9 \text{ vs } 33.2 \pm 4.9 \text{ years}$ ; p=0.0007), more likely to be on insulin (42.3 vs 19.5%; p<0.0001) and had slightly higher fasting, 1-hour, and 2-hour glucoses on a 75g OGTT (Supplementary Table 3.2). They were

slightly more likely to have a neonate with hypoglycemia (5.6 vs 4.4%; p=0.04), though did not differ in other neonatal characteristics.

The mean number of capillary glucose tests performed for women with Type 1, Type 2, and gestational diabetes was  $9.8 \pm 7.6$ ,  $4.9 \pm 4.7$ , and  $1.8 \pm 1.6$  respectively. Hypoglycemia was more common in women with Type 1 diabetes with 56 (35.7%) women having at least one recorded glucose <3.5 mmol/L compared to 38 (14.2%) and 78 (2.4%) women with Type 2 and gestational diabetes respectively.

#### 3.4.2 Intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia

There was no significant difference in our primary exposure, in-target glucose control, in mothers of neonates with and without hypoglycemia with Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes (Table 3.3). However, in gestational diabetes, mothers of neonates with hypoglycemia were less likely to have in-target glucose control compared to mothers of neonates without hypoglycemia (69.8 vs 78.4% respectively; p=0.006).

For women with Type 1 diabetes, there were no significant differences in any of the either prespecified or exploratory intrapartum glycemic variables between mothers of neonates with and without neonatal hypoglycemia. For women with Type 2 diabetes, mothers of neonates with hypoglycemia were more likely to have at least 50% and 25% of glucoses in-target as well, they had a lower percentage of tests within the target range compared to mothers of neonates without hypoglycemia. In contrast, for women with gestational diabetes all but percentage of tests below target were significantly different in mothers of neonates with hypoglycemia compared to those without (Table 3.3).

Univariate analysis was used to examine for associations between maternal and neonatal characteristics and neonatal hypoglycemia (Supplementary Table 3.3). For women with Type 1 diabetes, large for gestational age, extreme large for gestational age, preterm delivery, HbA1c (1<sup>st</sup>, 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> trimesters), male sex and maternal smoking were significantly associated with neonatal hypoglycemia (Supplementary Table 3.3). For women with Type 2 diabetes, extreme large for gestational age, preterm delivery, HbA1c in the 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> trimesters, and caesarean section were associated with neonatal hypoglycemia. For women with gestational diabetes, large for gestational age, extreme large for gestational age, preterm delivery, HbA1c in the 2<sup>nd</sup> and 3<sup>rd</sup> trimesters, and caesarean section were associated with neonatal hypoglycemia. For women with gestational diabetes, large for gestational age, extreme large for gestational age, preterm delivery, 2-hour OGTT glucose, pre-pregnancy weight >91kg, male sex and intrapartum glycemic control were associated with neonatal hypoglycemia.

After adjustment for important neonatal factors (large for gestational age, preterm delivery and infant sex), intrapartum in-target glycemic control was not significantly associated with neonatal hypoglycemia in women regardless of their type of diabetes (Table 3.4).

#### **3.5 Discussion**

We report on the largest cohort examining the relationship between intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia in women with diabetes in pregnancy. We found that neonatal hypoglycemia was common in women with Type 1 diabetes (28%) and Type 2 diabetes (18%) but comparatively less common in women with gestational diabetes (5%). There were

differences in some intrapartum parameters between mothers with and without neonates with hypoglycemia in women with Type 2 and gestational diabetes. However, there was no significant association between in-target intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia after adjustment for important neonatal factors regardless of the type of diabetes.

Our findings are consistent with some but not all studies examining the importance of glycemic control during labour and delivery as the literature in this area is conflicting (34). A recent systematic review highlighted the lack of high quality studies supporting the theory that tight intrapartum glycemic control may decrease the risk of neonatal hypoglycemia (34). Authors noted that lack of adjustment for known confounders was common in studies that identified a consistent and significant association between markers of glycemic control during labour and delivery and neonatal hypoglycemia. It is important to note that while our unadjusted analysis found many significant associations between intrapartum measures and neonatal hypoglycemia primarily in women with gestational diabetes, this significant association was no longer apparent after adjustment for important neonatal risk factors.

In contrast to our findings, a study by Joshi et al. which included women with pre-existing diabetes only (n=247) found the percentage of intrapartum tests between 7 to 10 mmol/L (OR 1.02; p=0.001) and 4 to 7 mmol/L (OR 0.99; p=0.02) were significantly associated with neonatal hypoglycemia even after adjustment for confounders (68). The difference in their findings may, at least in part, be explained by the different study definition of neonatal hypoglycemia used. Joshi et al. used a neonatal glucose of  $\leq 2.6$  mmol/L whereas we used a definition of neonates requiring intravenous dextrose. It is unclear if the significant relationship found by Joshi et al.

would persist if a more severe form of neonatal hypoglycemia, such as need for intravenous dextrose therapy, was examined. Joshi et al. noted that while this association was statistically significant, the magnitude was small. They also highlighted other factors such as antenatal glycemic control that were associated with neonatal hypoglycemia.

We found that antenatal glycemic control, as assessed with HbA1c, was associated with neonatal hypoglycemia in women with pre-existing diabetes in pregnancy. This association between antenatal glycemic control and risk of neonatal hypoglycemia has been found across populations (16, 62, 68). As well, our finding that infant size (either large for gestational and/or extreme large for gestational age) was associated with neonatal hypoglycemia in all types of diabetes is consistent with the available literature (8, 62, 69). Both findings support the hypothesis that factors occurring well before parturition pose a more substantial risk for the occurrence of neonatal hypoglycemia than intrapartum maternal glycemic control. The multicentre randomized controlled trial CONCEPTT (Continuous glucose monitoring in Type 1 diabetes pregnancy trial) randomized participants to continuous glucose monitoring (CGM) or standard capillary glucose monitoring. CONCEPTT found CGM significantly decreased the odds of neonatal hypoglycemia. As well, a higher time in-target as measured by CGM during the last half of pregnancy was associated with less neonatal hypoglycemia (18, 62). With only 15% of women using CGM during labour and delivery, it is unlikely this improvement in neonatal hypoglycemia in women using CGM was due to changes in the intrapartum period (62). When taken as a whole, it is likely that glycemic control in the months preceding delivery is an important and modifiable risk factor for neonatal hypoglycemia. With very few women able to achieve

guideline recommended glycemic targets, optimum glycemic control during pregnancy should continue to be an area of focus for women with diabetes, clinicians and researchers (4).

Neonatal hypoglycemia following pregnancies with gestational diabetes was relatively uncommon (5%) in this study and consistent with the literature using a similar definition including a low neonatal glucose and treatment with intravenous dextrose (30, 31). There were many significant differences between various intrapartum glycemic control measures in women with gestational diabetes including our primary exposure variable in-target glucose control. This significant difference was no longer apparent after adjustment for important neonatal factors. Even if considering the unadjusted analyses alone, it is difficult to say if the significant differences between intrapartum glycemic control in mothers of neonates with and without hypoglycemia are clinically meaningful. In our cohort, only 7% of women with gestational diabetes (13 and 6% in mothers of neonates with and without hypoglycemia) had an actionable glucose (defined by our local protocol as two consecutive glucoses >6.5 mmol/L 1 hour apart) and only 1% of women with gestational diabetes received intravenous insulin therapy. Many more women may require intrapartum insulin therapy to decrease the risk of a relatively uncommon complication. Furthermore, our gold standard tool used to achieve in-target glycemic control in labour and delivery, intravenous insulin, lacks the precision to achieve tight glycemic targets (41). Additionally, the risk of maternal hypoglycemia when using intravenous insulin therapy is high and must be considered when weighing the risks and benefits (24, 34, 41).

Our study has several important strengths. This is the largest cohort examining the relationship between intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia with the next largest cohort including 733 women (50). Our primary outcome, exposures and analysis plan were published prior to data collection and any additional analyses are labelled as exploratory in nature. Our neonatal outcome data by type of diabetes are consistent with other large cohort studies and clinical trials which support the quality and accuracy of our dataset (4, 18, 30, 31).

We also acknowledge some limitations. There were missing intrapartum glucoses in 14, 24 and 48% of women with Type 1, Type 2 and gestational diabetes respectively. We postulate that the most likely reason for these missing data is that glucoses were not measured and/or recorded on the clinical record. The differences between women with and without intrapartum data were minimal for those with pre-existing diabetes. Women with gestational diabetes who had intrapartum glucoses were more likely to be on insulin, had slightly higher OGTT glucoses, and were more likely to have a neonate with hypoglycemia. While this is the largest cohort to date, the adjusted ORs for in-target glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia were less than 1 (0.4 and 0.7 for women with type 1 and type 2 diabetes respectively), indicating that we may have been underpowered to detect a potentially important effect in these groups. Another limitation is our lack of a neonatal glucose cut off in our definition of hypoglycemia which may have led to the misclassification of neonates as having hypoglycemia who received intravenous dextrose for another reason. Given the consistency of our numbers with the available literature, this is unlikely to have introduced significant bias (18, 30, 31). We did not perform all the possible analyses described in our registered protocol as some were not possible given the available data.

In conclusion, we were unable to identify a significant association between in-target glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia after adjustment for neonatal factors in this large

retrospective cohort study. Neonatal hypoglycemia was significantly associated with risk factors such as large for gestational age and glycemic control that occur prior to the intrapartum period. Given the high risk of maternal hypoglycemia and the resources required for intravenous insulin therapy, guidelines and future trials should consider whether more relaxed intrapartum glycemic targets may be safer in women with diabetes in pregnancy.

#### 3.6 Acknowledgements

We would like to thank Susan Crawford, Epidemiologist at Alberta Perinatal Health Program and Carolyn Oldford, Research Coordinator at the Diabetes in Pregnancy Foothills Medical Centre Clinic. Our study was supported by funding from the Stewart Diabetes Fund (Alberta, Canada) and the Cal Wenzel Cardiometabolic Fund.

#### **3.7** Contribution

JY, LD, KM and SW conceived and designed the study. JY collected the data with the help of Susan Crawford. JY analyzed the data. JY, LD, KM and SW interpreted the data. JY prepared the manuscript, which all authors critically reviewed. All authors have given final approval of the version to be published. JY is the guarantor of this work, had full access to all the study data and takes responsibility for the integrity of the data.

### **3.8 Tables and Figures**

#### Table 3.1: Maternal Characteristics by Type of Diabetes

	Type 1 Diabetes	Type 2 Diabetes	Gestational Diabetes		
	n=182	n=350	n=6208		
Maternal Characteristics*					
Maternal age in years	$30.1 \pm 5.0$	$33.7 \pm 5.0$	$33.0 \pm 4.9$		
Duration of diabetes	$14.9 \pm 8.4$	$4.0 \pm 4.2$	-		
Primiparous	108 (59.3)	127 (36.3)	2469 (39.8)		
Pre-pregnancy weight >91kg	16 (8.8)	126 (36.0)	742 (12.0)		
Smoking	24 (13.2)	35 (10.0)	384 (6.2)		
Pre-existing hypertension	3 (1.7)	21 (6.0)	85 (1.4)		
Pregnancy induced hypertension	39 (21.4)	65 (18.6)	626 (10.1)		
Insulin pump	55 (30.2)	1 (0.3)	0 (0)		
Insulin use	182 (100)	314 (89.7)	1953 (31.5)		
Metformin	3 (1.7)	106 (30.3)	94 (1.5)		
Other oral diabetes medications	0 (0)	10 (2.9)	1 (0.02)		
Intrapartum intravenous insulin infusion	111 (61.0)	58 (16.6)	61 (1.0)		
Maternal Glycemic Control**					
HbA1c					
1 <sup>st</sup> trimester	$7.6 \pm 1.4$	$7.1 \pm 1.5$	-		
2 <sup>nd</sup> trimester	$6.8 \pm 0.9$	$6.3 \pm 0.8$	-		
3 <sup>rd</sup> trimester	$6.9 \pm 0.8$	$6.3 \pm 0.9$	-		
Glucose Screen (50g)					
1-hour			$9.6 \pm 1.6$		
Oral Glucose Tolerance Test (75g)					
Fasting	-	-	$4.8 \pm 0.8$		
1-hour	-	-	$10.7 \pm 1.3$		
2-hour	-	-	$9.0 \pm 1.5$		

Data are presented as counts (percentages) or means  $\pm$  standard deviation; \*Diabetes duration available for 173 women with Type 1 diabetes and 314 women with Type 2 diabetes; Parity missing on 6 records; Smoking and hypertension missing on 9 records; \*\*Trimester specific HbA1c was available for 160-173 women and 241-290 women with Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes respectively; Glucose screen data was available for 5664 women with gestational diabetes; Oral glucose tolerance test data were available for 3476-4259 women with gestational diabetes.

	Type 1 Diabetes	Type 2 Diabetes	<b>Gestational Diabetes</b>
	n=182	n=350	n=6208
Neonatal Characteristics*			
Neonatal hypoglycemia (IV dextrose)	50 (27.5)	64 (18.3)	313 (5.0)
Male sex	99 (54.4)	184 (52.6)	3257 (52.5)
Caesarean section	110 (60.4)	200 (57.1)	2336 (37.6)
Gestational age	$36.5 \pm 1.9$	$37.2 \pm 1.8$	$38.2 \pm 1.7$
Preterm	74 (40.7)	69 (19.7)	674 (10.9)
Early preterm	9 (5.0)	15 (4.3)	126 (2.0)
Neonatal intensive care unit admission	101 (55.5)	108 (31.0)	871 (14.0)
Birthweight	$3474.3 \pm 679.7$	$3241.3 \pm 680.7$	$3229.3 \pm 551.8$
Large for gestational age	88 (48.4)	83 (23.7)	602 (9.7)
Extreme large for gestational age	47 (25.8)	37 (10.6)	218 (3.5)
Small for gestational age	3 (1.7)	30 (8.6)	684 (11.0)

## Table 3.2: Neonatal Characteristics by Type of Diabetes

Data are presented as counts (percentages) or means ± standard deviation; \*Neonatal intensive care unit admission missing on 6 records; birthweight information missing on 1 record

# Table 3.3: Intrapartum (within 24 hours prior to delivery) Glycemic Control for Mothers of Neonates with and without Hypoglycemia by Type of Diabetes

	Type 1 Diabetes		Type 2 Diabetes		Gestational Diabetes				
	n=157		n=267		n=3256				
	Neonatal	No Neonatal		Neonatal	No Neonatal		Neonatal	No Neonatal	
	Hypoglycemia	Hypoglycemia		Hypoglycemia	Hypoglycemia		Hypoglycemia	Hypoglycemia	
	n=47	n=110	p-value	n=46	n=221	p-value	n=182	n=3074	p-value
Pre-specified									
In target glucose	5 (10.6)	19 (17.3)	0.29	20 (43.5)	120 (54.3)	0.18	127 (69.8)	2410 (78.4)	0.006
Overt hyperglycemia	22 (46.8)	47 (42.7)	0.64	11 (23.9)	33 (14.9)	0.14	18 (9.9)	116 (3.8)	<0.0001
At least 50% in target	31 (66.0)	73 (66.4)	0.96	35 (76.1)	193 (87.3)	0.049	156 (85.7)	2786 (90.6)	0.03
At least 25% in target	36 (76.6)	90 (81.8)	0.45	37 (80.4)	203 (91.9)	0.02	160 (87.9)	2869 (93.3)	0.005
<b>Exploratory Analyses</b>									
Actionable glucose	38 (80.9)	87 (79.1)	0.80	21 (45.7)	87 (39.4)	0.43	24 (13.2)	189 (6.2)	<0.0001
% of tests within target	$53.6\pm34.3$	$57.7 \pm 31.8$	0.47	$67.3 \pm 36.7$	$78.5\pm30.2$	0.03	$80.5\pm33.9$	$86.9 \pm 28.4$	<0.003
% of tests above target	$41.4 \pm 35.7$	$36.7\pm32.8$	0.42	$26.3\pm35.7$	$18.1\pm28.9$	0.09	$18.4 \pm 32.8$	$12.0\pm27.4$	0.003
% of tests below target	$5.0 \pm 11.6$	$5.6 \pm 9.2$	0.73	$6.4 \pm 15.5$	$3.3 \pm 11.8$	0.13	$1.2 \pm 10.5$	$1.1 \pm 8.2$	0.87
% of tests $\geq$ 8.6 mmol/L	$17.7\pm29.5$	$13.9\pm24.3$	0.40	$7.0 \pm 13.3$	$4.0 \pm 12.7$	0.14	$5.7 \pm 19.7$	$1.7 \pm 10.1$	<0.00001
Mean glucose	$6.7 \pm 2.9$	$6.4 \pm 1.9$	0.34	$5.7 \pm 1.5$	$5.6 \pm 1.4$	0.53	$5.7 \pm 1.7$	$5.3 \pm 1.4$	0.006
Last glucose	6.8 ± 3.1	$6.1 \pm 2.3$	0.10	$5.6 \pm 1.4$	$5.4 \pm 1.8$	0.16	$5.5 \pm 1.6$	$5.3 \pm 1.3$	0.03

## Table 3.4: Adjusted Multivariable Logistic Regression Models for Odds of Neonatal Hypoglycemia

	Adjusted Model	
	Odds Ratio (95% CI)	p-value
Type 1 Diabetes		
In-target glycemic control	0.4 (0.1, 1.4)	0.18
Large for gestational age	3.1 (1.5, 6.7)	0.004
Preterm delivery	4.1 (1.9, 8.9)	<0.0001
Male sex	2.0 (0.9, 4.5)	0.08
Type 2 Diabetes		
In-target glycemic control	0.7 (0.3, 1.3)	0.23
Large for gestational age	1.7 (0.8, 3.6)	0.16
Preterm delivery	2.1 (1.0, 4.5)	0.048
Male sex	1.2 (0.6, 2.4)	0.52
Gestational Diabetes		
In-target glycemic control	0.7 (0.5, 1.0)	0.08
Large for gestational age	1.9 (1.3, 2.9)	0.002
Preterm delivery	5.4 (3.9, 7.5)	<0.0001
Male sex	1.3 (1.0, 1.8)	0.07

**Figure 3.1: Study Flow Chart** 



## **3.9 Supplementary Material**

# Supplementary Table 3.1: Summary of the Data Source for Included Variables

Source Database	Variables
Alberta Perinatal Health Database	Neonatal sex
	Mode of delivery
	• Birth gestational age
	Admission to the neonatal intensive care unit
	• Birthweight
	Maternal age
	• Pre-pregnancy weight >91kg
	Maternal smoking
	Pre-existing hypertension
	Hypertension
Diabetes in Pregnancy Clinical Database	• Type of diabetes
	Duration of diabetes
	• Treatment during pregnancy (insulin, metformin, other)
	Insulin pump use
Analytics (including Sunrise Clinical	Neonatal hypoglycemia (received intravenous dextrose
	treatment)
Management System)	Capillary glucose testing in labour and delivery
	Intravenous insulin treatment during labour and delivery
Lab Information Systems for Calgary,	• HbA1c
	• 50g glucose challenge
Central and South Zone	• 75g oral glucose tolerance test

	Type 1 Diabetes		Type 2 Diabetes		Gestational Diabetes				
	Intrapartum	No intrapartum		Intrapartum	No intrapartum		Intrapartum	No intrapartum	
	data	data		data	data		data	data	
	n=157	n=25	p-value	n=267	n=87	p-value	n=3256	n=2952	p-value
Maternal age	$30.1 \pm 5.1$	$30.0\pm4.3$	0.92	$33.6\pm5.0$	$34.0\pm4.9$	0.50	$32.8\pm4.9$	$33.2 \pm 4.9$	0.0007
Insulin use	157 (100)	25 (100)	-	243 (91.0)	71 (85.5)	0.15	1378 (42.3)	575 (19.5)	<0.0001
Mean HbA1c*									
1 <sup>st</sup> Trimester	$7.6 \pm 1.5$	$7.5 \pm 1.0$	0.63	$7.2 \pm 1.5$	$6.9 \pm 1.3$	0.28	-	-	-
2 <sup>nd</sup> Trimester	$6.9 \pm 1.0$	$6.8 \pm 0.6$	0.64	$6.3 \pm 0.9$	$6.3 \pm 0.7$	0.76	-	-	-
3 <sup>rd</sup> Trimester	$6.9 \pm 0.8$	$6.8 \pm 0.6$	0.53	$6.3 \pm 0.8$	$6.6 \pm 1.0$	0.007	-	-	-
OGTT (75g)**									
Fasting	-	-	-	-	-	-	$4.9\pm0.8$	$4.7 \pm 0.7$	<0.0001
1-hour	-	-	-	-	-	-	$10.8 \pm 1.3$	10.6 ± 1.3	<0.0001
2-hour	-	-	-	-	-	-	9.1 ± 1.5	8.9 ± 1.5	0.02
Neonatal hypoglycemia	47 (29.9)	3 (12.0)	0.06	46 (17.2)	18 (21.7)	0.36	182 (5.6)	131 (4.4)	0.04
Male	87 (55.4)	12 (48.0)	0.49	139 (52.1)	45 (54.2)	0.73	1731 (53.2)	1526 (51.7)	0.25
Preterm	62 (39.5)	12 (48.0)	0.42	48 (18.0)	21 (25.3)	0.14	356 (10.9)	318 (10.8)	0.83
Large for gestational	74 (47.1)	14 (56.0)	0.41	58 (21.7)	25 (30.1)	0.12	336 (10.3)	266 (9.0)	0.08
age									

#### Supplementary Table 3.2: Differences Between Women with and without Intrapartum Glycemic Control Data

Data are presented as counts (percentages) or means ± standard deviation; \*Trimester specific HbA1c was available for 160-173 women and 241-290 women with Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes respectively; \*\*Oral glucose tolerance test data were available for 3476-4259 women with gestational diabetes; OGTT, oral glucose tolerance test

# Supplementary Table 3.3: Results of Univariate Logistic Regression for Neonatal Hypoglycemia

## **Type 1 Diabetes**

Variable	Odds Ratio (95% CI)	p-value
Large for gestational age	3.4 (1.7, 7.0)	< 0.0001
Extreme large for gestational age	3.4 (1.7, 6.8)	0.001
Preterm	3.4 (1.7, 6.6)	< 0.0001
First trimester HbA1c	1.4 (1.1, 1.8)	0.004
Second trimester HbA1c	2.1 (1.4, 3.1)	< 0.0001
Third trimester HbA1c	2.2 (1.4, 3.4)	0.001
Pump use in pregnancy	1.4 (0.7, 2.9)	0.30
Caesarean section	1.6 (0.8, 3.1)	0.20
Maternal age at delivery	1.0 (0.9, 1.0)	0.18
Pre-pregnancy weight >91kg	0.4 (0.1, 1.6)	0.18
Smoking	2.6 (1.1, 6.2)	0.04
Sex (male)	2.2 (1.1, 4.3)	0.03
Intrapartum Variable		
In-target glycemic control	0.6 (0.20, 1.6)	0.30

## **Type 2 Diabetes**

Variable	Odds Ratio (95% CI)	p-value
Large for gestational age	1.6 (0.88, 2.9)	0.12
Extreme large for gestational age	2.8 (1.3, 5.8)	0.007
Preterm	3.5 (1.9, 6.4)	< 0.0001
First trimester HbA1c	1.2 (1.0, 1.4)	0.14
Second trimester HbA1c	1.5 (1.1, 2.1)	0.009
Third trimester HbA1c	1.6 (1.2, 2.2)	0.003
Caesarean section	2.0 (1.1, 3.6)	0.02
Maternal age at delivery	1.0 (1.0, 1.0)	0.28
Pre-pregnancy weight >91kg	0.9 (0.5, 1.6)	0.77
Smoking	1.9 (0.9, 4.3)	0.10
Sex (male)	1.2 (0.7, 2.1)	0.52
Intrapartum Variable		
In-target glycemic control	0.6 (0.3, 1.2)	0.18

## **Gestational Diabetes**

Variable	Odds Ratio (95% CI)	p-value
Large for gestational age	1.8 (1.3, 2.5)	< 0.0001
Extreme large for gestational age	2.2 (1.4, 3.5)	0.001
Preterm	6.4 (5.0, 8.1)	< 0.0001
Gestational screen (50g)		
1-hour	1.0 (1.0, 1.1)	0.46
Oral Glucose Tolerance Test (75g)		
Fasting	1.1 (0.9, 1.3)	0.56
1-hour	1.0 (0.9, 1.2)	0.44
2-hour	1.1 (1.0, 1.2)	0.02
Caesarean section	1.8 (1.4, 2.2)	< 0.0001
Maternal age at delivery	1.0 (1.0, 1.0)	0.07
Pre-pregnancy weight >91kg	1.4 (1.0, 2.0)	0.03
Smoking	1.2 (0.7, 1.8)	0.51
----------------------------	----------------	-------
Sex (male)	1.4 (1.1, 1.8)	0.002
Intrapartum Variable		
In-target glycemic control	0.6 (0.5, 0.9)	0.007

Chapter Four: Summary

## 4.1 Overview

In 1989, a group of stakeholders met in St. Vincent's, Italy to develop a set of goals to reach for people with diabetes (70). Named the St. Vincent's Declaration, one of its five year targets was to "achieve pregnancy outcomes in the diabetic woman that approximates that of the non-diabetic woman". Unfortunately, almost 30 years later, we remain far from closing the gap between optimal pregnancy outcomes and those in women with diabetes in pregnancy (4). Neonatal hypoglycemia remains a common, theoretically preventable, and potentially serious complication of diabetes in pregnancy; as researchers and clinicians, we continue to search for ways to fulfill the promise made many years ago.

Intrapartum glycemic control is an attractive target when aiming to decrease the risk of neonatal hypoglycemia. Though it varies from person to person, much of the labour and delivery period occurs in hospital, a theoretically controlled setting. It is a discrete amount of time in which women are taking little in by mouth (not eating or drinking) and with the use of intravenous insulin therapy, we may be able to strive for perfection during this period. However, even in this highly monitored setting using the current gold-standard intravenous insulin, we fall short of perfection.

The intrapartum period is a time of dramatic and dynamic changes in hormones, glucose utilization and insulin sensitivity (71). Intravenous insulin infusion is, by its nature, reactive which limits its ability to achieve tight glycemic targets (4.0-7.0 mmol/L). Furthermore, maternal hypoglycemia is commonplace, with 36% of women with Type 1 diabetes in our cohort having

at least one glucose <3.5 mmol/L. The results of this thesis call to question this dogmatic approach to the intrapartum period.

*Primum non nocere*', first do no harm, a principle of medical ethics and the title of a letter to the editor written regarding our systematic review (Chapter 2) (34, 72). The authors of this letter argue that in the absence of compelling evidence of the benefit of strict glycemic control they ask the guidelines to "urgently review the dictum that peripartum plasma glucose should be maintained between 4 and 7 mmol/L" (72). Additionally, our review was highlighted as an Editor's Selection in the special issue "Clinical aspects of diabetes in pregnancy", where too the editor also urged policy makers to "re-consider these targets" given the risk of maternal hypoglycemia and resource implications (73). These publications, and others, highlight the topicality of this issue in the clinical diabetes community (72-75).

When taking the results of this thesis in its entirety, we cannot rule out that tight intrapartum glycemic control is associated with neonatal hypoglycemia, especially with its varying definitions. However, this must be carefully weighed against the risk of maternal hypoglycemia, the demands on busy ward staff, and the invasive nature of intravenous insulin treatment. In addition, we along with others have other important targets we can strive for, namely improving antenatal glycemic control and reducing large for gestational age or extremely large for gestational age neonates. These have been shown across well-powered studies to be associated with an increased risk of neonatal hypoglycemia in women with pre-existing diabetes in pregnancy (8, 16, 18, 62). While we have demonstrated that infant size is associated with risk of neonatal hypoglycemia in women with gestational diabetes, it is unclear if glycemic control

during the third trimester plays a role, since we lack that data. Indeed, it may be more reasonable to separate the discussion of neonatal hypoglycemia by type of diabetes as the magnitude of risk and role of treatment differ substantially.

# 4.2 Neonatal hypoglycemia and gestational diabetes

The prevalence of neonatal hypoglycemia in a low risk population is difficult to assess given the varying definitions. Using a low glucose alone, the incidence may range from 5-15% in the low risk neonate (15). Our cohort study included 6208 women with gestational diabetes, 3256 of whom had intrapartum glycemic control data, by far the largest cohort to date. Neonatal hypoglycemia was relatively uncommon, with only 5% of neonates of mothers with gestational diabetes receiving intravenous dextrose. Given the time period of our cohort study, it is unlikely that this represents a shift towards treatment with dextrose gel rather than intravenous dextrose that has occurred more recently (76). Unfortunately, our cohort study did not include women without diabetes, so we cannot comment if the incidence of neonatal hypoglycemia is above that of the general population in Calgary.

In the Hyperglycemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcomes (HAPO) landmark cohort study defining gestational diabetes, maternal glucose levels were only weakly associated with neonatal hypoglycemia (OR 1.01-1.14 for 1 SD higher OGTT glucose levels) (61). Like our results, the 2-hour OGTT glucose was more strongly associated with neonatal hypoglycemia, but the effect size was still small (OR 1.1; p=0.02). As all women with gestational diabetes were seen in our interdisciplinary diabetes in pregnancy clinic, they would have received some form of treatment for their diabetes. This would be primarily in the form of dietary and lifestyle recommendations

which is the mainstay of treatment of gestational diabetes (3). An additional ~one third of women in our cohort with gestational diabetes required insulin therapy. Interestingly, a high quality meta-analysis failed to show any effect of treatment of gestational diabetes on neonatal hypoglycemia (pooled risk ratio 1.18 [95% CI 0.92, 1.52]) (12).

If we were to postulate neonatal hypoglycemia was indeed more common in our cohort of women with gestational diabetes, the increased risk may be due to additional risk factors that are more common in women with gestational diabetes such as obesity or gestation hypertension rather than hyperglycemia itself causing the increased risk (3). It is interesting that our univariate analysis demonstrated pre-pregnancy weight >91kg was significantly associated with neonatal hypoglycemia (OR 1.4; p=0.03) in women with gestational diabetes, but not in women with pre-existing diabetes. Unfortunately, the BMI data from our diabetes in pregnancy clinical database were incomplete and could not be used in our analysis. In other studies, both obesity and excess gestational weight gain have been associated with increased risk of neonatal hypoglycemia (60, 77). Pathophysiologically, this could be explained through the maternal over-nutrition seen in obesity causing fetal hyperinsulinemia, which subsequently causes an increased risk of neonatal hypoglycemia.

The potential importance of maternal weight and weight gain in the risk of neonatal hypoglycemia in women with gestational diabetes should be considered in strategies aimed at decreasing the incidence of neonatal hypoglycemia. When added to the conclusions of both our systematic review and retrospective cohort study regarding the lack of a significant association of intrapartum glycemic control in women with gestational diabetes, maternal weight and

nutrition may be a more lucrative target when trying to decrease the risk of neonatal hypoglycemia than improving the already high proportion of women with in-target intrapartum glycemic control.

# 4.3 Neonatal hypoglycemia and pre-existing diabetes – Shifting the focus back to antenatal glycemic control

A large nationwide cohort in the UK found that only 40 and 76% of women with Type 1 and 2 diabetes respectively achieved target glycemic control (HbA1c <6.5%) late in pregnancy despite hard work of women with diabetes and the support of interdisciplinary healthcare teams (4). Even in a randomized controlled trial setting with the help of continuous glucose monitoring technology, women with Type 1 diabetes spend almost eight hours a day outside of the target glucose range (18). This leaves much room for improvement in antenatal glycemic control in women with pre-existing diabetes in pregnancy.

Our cohort study found glycemic control in women with Type 1 and 2 diabetes in the  $2^{nd}$  and  $3^{rd}$  trimesters, as assessed by HbA1c, was significantly associated with neonatal hypoglycemia in the univariate analysis. This association of neonatal hypoglycemia with antenatal glycemic control has been shown previously in studies of women with pre-existing diabetes (16, 62, 68). Additionally, target glycemic control prior to and during pregnancy (typically defined as a HbA1c <6.5%) has been shown across many studies and populations to not only improve common pregnancy outcomes such as large for gestational age and neonatal intensive unit admissions but also serious adverse outcomes such as congenital anomaly, stillbirth and early neonatal death (16, 78-80). In the same UK cohort described above, authors noted that in women

with Type 1 and 2 diabetes respectively, 40 and 22% had preterm deliveries, as well, 46 and 24% had large for gestational age neonates (4). These numbers are nearly identical to our cohort where we found that in women with Type 1 and 2 diabetes respectively, 41 and 20% delivered preterm and 48 and 24% had a large for gestational age neonate. We must continue to develop better strategies to help improve measures of glycemic control in women with pre-existing diabetes.

We were unable to demonstrate a significant difference in neonatal hypoglycemia with in-target glycemic control in women with Type 1 and 2 diabetes after adjustment for known neonatal confounders. Given the strength of the available evidence regarding maternal antenatal glycemic control in addition to the lack of high quality evidence consistently supporting an association between intrapartum maternal glucose and neonatal hypoglycemia, focus should continue to be on helping women to achieve antenatal glucose targets. Improving antenatal glycemic control should improve the identified risk factors for neonatal hypoglycemia (large for gestational age and preterm delivery) in addition to any independent association in-target glycemic control may have.

# 4.4 Conclusions and future directions

When the results of our cohort study are added to those of our systematic review, the weight of the evidence suggests there is no significant consistently reproducible association between in target intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia. By the observational nature of the included studies, we cannot comment on whether more relaxed glycemic targets may be safer in women with diabetes in pregnancy. A randomized controlled trial which directly compares

current/tight glycemic targets (4.0-7.0 mmol/L) to more relaxed targets (for example 5.0-10.0 mmol/L) would be required to determine if a more relaxed approach may be safer for women with diabetes without increasing the risk of neonatal hypoglycemia. Knowing the incidence of neonatal hypoglycemia in women with gestational diabetes and the proportion of women who already achieve in-target glycemic control without intravenous insulin therapy, an argument could be made against the inclusion of women with gestational diabetes in a clinical trial.

Improving antenatal glycemic control in women with pre-existing diabetes in pregnancy remains an important goal. Certainly, if we are to meet the goal set forth by the St. Vincent Declaration, near-perfect glycemic control for all women with diabetes would need to be achieved (70). Unfortunately, our current tools fall short of providing women with the glycemic control needed to decrease the risk associated with pre-existing diabetes in pregnancy (81). It will take everything in our diabetes armamentarium as well as tools not yet universally available to achieve pregnancy outcomes that approximate those of women without diabetes.

Automated insulin delivery (also known as closed-loop insulin delivery and the bionic pancreas) is a technology currently not available in pregnancy outside of clinical trials (19, 66, 82, 83). This technology is likely required to standardize diabetes care. In other words, to all help women with diabetes achieve target glycemic control in a way that is not all consuming. Automated insulin delivery may also help us achieve near perfect glycemic control in hospital in a way that does not increase the maternal hypoglycemia that is so commonplace with the use of intravenous insulin therapy. Until this technology is effective, affordable and universally available, we must

continue to support all women with diabetes to the best of our abilities. This includes protecting them from unnecessary harm.

Until we have either the results from randomized controlled trials supporting the use of tight intrapartum glycemic targets and/or universally available automated insulin delivery for intrapartum management, we urge guidelines writers and policy makers to consider more relaxed glycemic targets in the intrapartum period. William Osler wisely said "*the greater the ignorance the greater the dogma*"; since evidence has replaced ignorance, so too should we challenge the dogma.

### References

1. Guariguata L, Linnenkamp U, Beagley J, Whiting DR, Cho NH. Global estimates of the prevalence of hyperglycaemia in pregnancy. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2014;103(2):176-85.

2. Lai FY, Johnson JA, Dover D, Kaul P. Outcomes of singleton and twin pregnancies complicated by pre-existing diabetes and gestational diabetes: A population-based study in Alberta, Canada, 2005-11. J Diabetes. 2016;8(1):45-55.

Diabetes Canada Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee, Feig DS, Berger H,
 Donovan L, Godbout A, Kader T, et al. Diabetes and Pregnancy. Can J Diabetes. 2018;42 Suppl 1:S255-S82.

4. Murphy HR, Bell R, Cartwright C, Curnow P, Maresh M, Morgan M, et al. Improved pregnancy outcomes in women with type 1 and type 2 diabetes but substantial clinic-to-clinic variations: a prospective nationwide study. Diabetologia. 2017;60(9):1668-77.

5. Persson M, Norman M, Hanson U. Obstetric and perinatal outcomes in type 1 diabetic pregnancies: A large, population-based study. Diabetes Care. 2009;32(11):2005-9.

HAPO Study Cooperative Research Group, Metzger BE, Lowe LP, Dyer AR, Trimble ER, Chaovarindr U, et al. Hyperglycemia and adverse pregnancy outcomes. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(19):1991-2002.

7. Evers IM, de Valk HW, Visser GH. Risk of complications of pregnancy in women with type 1 diabetes: nationwide prospective study in the Netherlands. BMJ. 2004;328(7445):915.

8. Yamamoto JM, Kallas-Koeman MM, Butalia S, Lodha AK, Donovan LE. Large-forgestational-age (LGA) neonate predicts a 2.5-fold increased odds of neonatal hypoglycaemia in women with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes Metab Res Rev. 2017;33(1).

9. Mackin ST, Nelson SM, Kerssens JJ, Wood R, Wild S, Colhoun HM, et al. Diabetes and pregnancy: national trends over a 15 year period. Diabetologia. 2018;61(5):1081-8.

10. Macintosh MC, Fleming KM, Bailey JA, Doyle P, Modder J, Acolet D, et al. Perinatal mortality and congenital anomalies in babies of women with type 1 or type 2 diabetes in England, Wales, and Northern Ireland: population based study. BMJ. 2006;333(7560):177.

11. Metzger BE, Contreras M, Sacks DA, Watson W, Dooley SL, Foderaro M, et al. The Hyperglycemia and Adverse Pregnancy Outcome (HAPO) Study. International Journal of Gynecology and Obstetrics. 2002;78(1):69-77.

 Donovan L, Hartling L, Muise M, Guthrie A, Vandermeer B, Dryden DM. Screening tests for gestational diabetes: a systematic review for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Ann Intern Med. 2013;159(2):115-22.

Guemes M, Rahman SA, Hussain K. What is a normal blood glucose? Arch Dis Child.
 2016;101(6):569-74.

14. Screening guidelines for newborns at risk for low blood glucose. Paediatr Child Health.2004;9(10):723-40.

15. Harris DL, Weston PJ, Harding JE. Incidence of neonatal hypoglycemia in babies identified as at risk. J Pediatr. 2012;161(5):787-91.

Maresh MJ, Holmes VA, Patterson CC, Young IS, Pearson DW, Walker JD, et al.
 Glycemic targets in the second and third trimester of pregnancy for women with type 1 diabetes.
 Diabetes Care. 2015;38(1):34-42.

17. Balsells M, Garcia-Patterson A, Sola I, Roque M, Gich I, Corcoy R. Glibenclamide, metformin, and insulin for the treatment of gestational diabetes: a systematic review and metaanalysis. BMJ. 2015;350:h102.

18. Feig DS, Donovan LE, Corcoy R, Murphy KE, Amiel SA, Hunt KF, et al. Continuous glucose monitoring in pregnant women with type 1 diabetes (CONCEPTT): a multicentre international randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2017;390(10110):2347-59.

Stewart ZA, Thomson L, Murphy HR, Beardsall K. A Feasibility Study of Paired
 Continuous Glucose Monitoring Intrapartum and in the Newborn in Pregnancies Complicated by
 Type 1 Diabetes. Diabetes Technol Ther. 2019;21(1):20-7.

20. Adamkin DH. Neonatal hypoglycemia. Curr Opin Pediatr. 2016;28(2):150-5.

 Shah R, Harding J, Brown J, McKinlay C. Neonatal Glycaemia and Neurodevelopmental Outcomes: A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Neonatology. 2018;115(2):116-26.

 Kozen K, Dassios T, Kametas N, Kapoor RR, Greenough A. Transient neonatal hyperinsulinaemic hypoglycaemia: perinatal predictors of length and cost of stay. Eur J Pediatr. 2018;177(12):1823-9.

Ryan EA, Al-Agha R. Glucose control during labor and delivery. Curr Diab Rep.
 2014;14(1):450.

24. Kline GA, Edwards A. Antepartum and intra-partum insulin management of type 1 and type 2 diabetic women: Impact on clinically significant neonatal hypoglycemia. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2007;77(2):223-30.

Balsells M, Corcoy R, Adelantado JM, Garcia-Patterson A, Altirriba O, de Leiva A.
 Gestational diabetes mellitus: metabolic control during labour. Diabetes, nutrition & metabolism.
 2000;13(5):257-62.

26. Rosenberg VA, Eglinton GS, Rauch ER, Skupski DW. Intrapartum maternal glycemic control in women with insulin requiring diabetes: a randomized clinical trial of rotating fluids versus insulin drip. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 2006;195(4):1095-9.

27. Barrett HL, Morris J, McElduff A. Watchful waiting: a management protocol for maternal glycaemia in the peripartum period. The Australian & New Zealand journal of obstetrics & gynaecology. 2009;49(2):162-7.

Flores-Le Roux JA, Chillaron JJ, Goday A, Puig De Dou J, Paya A, Lopez-Vilchez MA,
 et al. Peripartum metabolic control in gestational diabetes. Am J Obstet Gynecol.
 2010;202(6):568 e1-6.

29. Karamanou M, Protogerou A, Tsoucalas G, Androutsos G, Poulakou-Rebelakou E.
Milestones in the history of diabetes mellitus: The main contributors. World J Diabetes.
2016;7(1):1-7.

 Crowther CA, Hiller JE, Moss JR, McPhee AJ, Jeffries WS, Robinson JS, et al. Effect of treatment of gestational diabetes mellitus on pregnancy outcomes. N Engl J Med.
 2005;352(24):2477-86.

31. Landon MB, Spong CY, Thom E, Carpenter MW, Ramin SM, Casey B, et al. A multicenter, randomized trial of treatment for mild gestational diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2009;361(14):1339-48.

32. Evers IM, de Valk HW, Mol BW, ter Braak EW, Visser GH. Macrosomia despite good glycaemic control in Type I diabetic pregnancy; results of a nationwide study in The Netherlands. Diabetologia. 2002;45(11):1484-9.

33. Dashora U, Murphy HR, Temple RC, Stanley KP, Castro E, George S, et al. Managing hyperglycaemia during antenatal steroid administration, labour and birth in pregnant women with diabetes. Diabet Med. 2018;35(8):1005-10.

34. Yamamoto JM, Benham J, Mohammad K, Donovan LE, Wood S. Intrapartum glycaemic control and neonatal hypoglycaemia in pregnancies complicated by diabetes: a systematic review. Diabet Med. 2018;35(2):173-83.

35. Shand AW, Bell JC, McElduff A, Morris J, Roberts CL. Outcomes of pregnancies in women with pre-gestational diabetes mellitus and gestational diabetes mellitus; a population-based study in New South Wales, Australia, 1998-2002. Diabet Med. 2008;25(6):708-15.

36. Obenshain SS, Adam PA, King KC, Teramo K, Raivio KO, Raiha N, et al. Human fetal insulin response to sustained maternal hyperglycemia. N Engl J Med. 1970;283(11):566-70.

37. Canadian Diabetes Association Clinical Practice Guidelines Expert Committee,
Thompson D, Berger H, Feig D, Gagnon R, Kader T, et al. Diabetes and pregnancy. Can J
Diabetes. 2013;37 Suppl 1:S168-83.

38. National Institute of Health and Care Excellence. Diabetes in pregnancy: management from preconception to the postnatal period 25 February 2015 [Available from:

https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/ng3.

39. Stroup DF, Berlin JA, Morton SC, Olkin I, Williamson GD, Rennie D, et al. Metaanalysis of observational studies in epidemiology: a proposal for reporting. Meta-analysis Of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (MOOSE) group. JAMA. 2000;283(15):2008-12.

40. Hayden JA, Cote P, Bombardier C. Evaluation of the quality of prognosis studies in systematic reviews. Ann Intern Med. 2006;144(6):427-37.

Drever E, Tomlinson G, Bai AD, Feig DS. Insulin pump use compared with intravenous insulin during labour and delivery: the INSPIRED observational cohort study. Diabet Med. 2016;33(9):1253-9.

42. Taylor R, Lee C, Kyne-Grzebalski D, Marshall SM, Davison JM. Clinical outcomes of pregnancy in women with type 1 diabetes(1). Obstet Gynecol. 2002;99(4):537-41.

43. Curet LB, Izquierdo LA, Gilson GJ, Schneider JM, Perelman R, Converse J. Relative effects of antepartum and intrapartum maternal blood glucose levels on incidence of neonatal hypoglycemia. Journal of perinatology : official journal of the California Perinatal Association. 1997;17(2):113-5.

44. Lean ME, Pearson DW, Sutherland HW. Insulin management during labour and delivery in mothers with diabetes. Diabet Med. 1990;7(2):162-4.

45. Miodovnik M, Mimouni F, Tsang RC, Skillman C, Siddiqi TA, Butler JB, et al. Management of the insulin-dependent diabetic during labor and delivery. Influences on neonatal outcome. Am J Perinatol. 1987;4(2):106-14.

46. Plehwe WE, Shearman RP, Turtle JR. Management of pregnancy complicated by diabetes: experience with 232 patients in a 4-year period. The Australian & New Zealand journal of obstetrics & gynaecology. 1984;24(3):167-73.

47. Cordua S, Secher AL, Ringholm L, Damm P, Mathiesen ER. Real-time continuous glucose monitoring during labour and delivery in women with Type 1 diabetes - observations from a randomized controlled trial. Diabet Med. 2013;30(11):1374-81.

48. Stenninger E, Lindqvist A, Aman J, Ostlund I, Schvarcz E. Continuous Subcutaneous Glucose Monitoring System in diabetic mothers during labour and postnatal glucose adaptation of their infants. Diabet Med. 2008;25(4):450-4.

49. Carron Brown S, Kyne-Grzebalski D, Mwangi B, Taylor R. Effect of management policy upon 120 Type 1 diabetic pregnancies: policy decisions in practice. Diabet Med. 1999;16(7):573-

8.

50. Farrant MT, Williamson K, Battin M, Hague WM, Rowan JA. The use of dextrose/insulin infusions during labour and delivery in women with gestational diabetes mellitus: Is there any point? The Australian & New Zealand journal of obstetrics & gynaecology. 2017;57(3):378-80.

51. Sargent JA, Roeder HA, Ward KK, Moore TR, Ramos GA. Continuous Subcutaneous Insulin Infusion versus Multiple Daily Injections of Insulin for the Management of Type 1 Diabetes Mellitus in Pregnancy: Association with Neonatal Chemical Hypoglycemia. Am J Perinatol. 2015;32(14):1324-30.

52. Flores-le Roux JA, Sagarra E, Benaiges D, Hernandez-Rivas E, Chillaron JJ, Puig de Dou J, et al. A prospective evaluation of neonatal hypoglycaemia in infants of women with gestational diabetes mellitus. Diabetes Res Clin Pract. 2012;97(2):217-22.

53. Lepercq J, Abbou H, Agostini C, Toubas F, Francoual C, Velho G, et al. A standardized protocol to achieve normoglycaemia during labour and delivery in women with type 1 diabetes. Diabetes & metabolism. 2008;34(1):33-7.

54. Agrawal RK, Lui K, Gupta JM. Neonatal hypoglycaemia in infants of diabetic mothers. Journal of paediatrics and child health. 2000;36(4):354-6.

55. Njenga E, Lind T, Taylor R. Five year audit of peripartum blood glucose control in type 1 diabetic patients. Diabet Med. 1992;9(6):567-70.

56. Stenninger E, Schollin J, Aman J. Neonatal macrosomia and hypoglycaemia in children of mothers with insulin-treated gestational diabetes mellitus. Acta paediatrica Scandinavica. 1991;80(11):1014-8.

57. Haigh SE, Tevaarwerk GJ, Harding PE, Hurst C. A method for maintaining normoglycemia during labour and delivery in insulin-dependent diabetic women. Canadian Medical Association journal. 1982;126(5):487-90.

58. Yeast JD, Porreco RP, Ginsberg HN. The use of continuous insulin infusion for the peripartum management of pregnant diabetic women. Am J Obstet Gynecol. 1978;131(8):861-4.

59. Soler NG, Malins JM. Diabetic pregnancy: management of diabetes on the day of delivery. Diabetologia. 1978;15(6):441-6.

60. Garcia-Patterson A, Aulinas A, Maria MA, Ubeda J, Orellana I, Ginovart G, et al. Maternal body mass index is a predictor of neonatal hypoglycemia in gestational diabetes mellitus. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 2012;97(5):1623-8.

 Metzger BE, Persson B, Lowe LP, Dyer AR, Cruickshank JK, Deerochanawong C, et al. Hyperglycemia and adverse pregnancy outcome study: neonatal glycemia. Pediatrics.
 2010;126(6):e1545-52.

62. Yamamoto J, Corcoy R, Donovan L, Stewart ZA, Beardsall K, Feig D, et al. Maternal Glycaemic Control and Risk of Neonatal Hypoglycaemia in Type 1 Diabetes Pregnancy– A secondary analysis of the CONCEPTT Trial (Under review). 2019.

63. Statistics Canada. Census Profile, 2016 Census. Calgary, Alberta [Available from: https://www12.statcan.gc.ca/census-recensement/2016/dp-

pd/prof/details/page.cfm?Lang=E&Geo1=CMACA&Code1=825&Geo2=PR&Code2=48&Data =Count&SearchText=calgary&SearchType=Begins&SearchPR=01&B1=All&TABID=1.[Acces sed 6March2019]

64. Alberta Health Services, Calgary Zone. IV insulin Labour Drip 2016: Calgary, Alberta

65. Alberta Health Services, Calgary Zone. Practice Support Document Guidelines. Blood Glucose Monitoring and Feeding of Infants at Risk for Hypoglycemia. 2015. Calgary, Alberta.

66. Stewart ZA, Yamamoto JM, Wilinska ME, Hartnell S, Farrington C, Hovorka R, et al. Adaptability of Closed Loop During Labor, Delivery, and Postpartum: A Secondary Analysis of Data from Two Randomized Crossover Trials in Type 1 Diabetes Pregnancy. Diabetes Technol Ther. 2018;20(7):501-5.

67. Kramer MS, Platt RW, Wen SW, Joseph KS, Allen A, Abrahamowicz M, et al. A new and improved population-based Canadian reference for birth weight for gestational age. Pediatrics. 2001;108(2):E35.

68. Joshi T, Oldmeadow C, Attia J, Wynne K. The duration of intrapartum maternal hyperglycaemia predicts neonatal hypoglycaemia in women with pre-existing diabetes. Diabet Med. 2017;34(5):725-31.

Voormolen DN, de Wit L, van Rijn BB, DeVries JH, Heringa MP, Franx A, et al.
 Neonatal Hypoglycemia Following Diet-Controlled and Insulin-Treated Gestational Diabetes
 Mellitus. Diabetes Care. 2018.

70. Diabetes care and research in Europe: the Saint Vincent declaration. Diabet Med.1990;7(4):360.

71. Maheux PC, Bonin B, Dizazo A, Guimond P, Monier D, Bourque J, et al. Glucose homeostasis during spontaneous labor in normal human pregnancy. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. 1996;81(1):209-15.

72. Modi A, Levy N, Hall GM. 'Primum non nocere' (first do no harm). Intrapartum glycaemic control and neonatal hypoglycaemia. Diabet Med. 2018;35(8):1130-1.

73. Holt RIG. Clinical aspects of diabetes in pregnancy. Diabet Med. 2018;35(2):159.

74. Yamamoto JM, Murphy HR. Inpatient hypoglycaemia; should we should we focus on the guidelines, the targets or our tools? Diabet Med. 2019;36(1):122-3.

75. Levy N, Hall GM. National guidance contributes to the high incidence of inpatient hypoglycaemia. Diabet Med. 2019;36(1):120-1.

76. Harris DL, Weston PJ, Signal M, Chase JG, Harding JE. Dextrose gel for neonatal hypoglycaemia (the Sugar Babies Study): a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Lancet. 2013;382(9910):2077-83.

77. Collins K, Oehmen R, Mehta S. Effect of obesity on neonatal hypoglycaemia in mothers with gestational diabetes: A comparative study. The Australian & New Zealand journal of obstetrics & gynaecology. 2018;58(3):291-7.

78. Tennant PW, Glinianaia SV, Bilous RW, Rankin J, Bell R. Pre-existing diabetes, maternal glycated haemoglobin, and the risks of fetal and infant death: a population-based study. Diabetologia. 2014;57(2):285-94.

79. Bell R, Glinianaia SV, Tennant PW, Bilous RW, Rankin J. Peri-conception hyperglycaemia and nephropathy are associated with risk of congenital anomaly in women with pre-existing diabetes: a population-based cohort study. Diabetologia. 2012.

80. Murphy HR, Steel SA, Roland JM, Morris D, Ball V, Campbell PJ, et al. Obstetric and perinatal outcomes in pregnancies complicated by Type 1 and Type 2 diabetes: influences of glycaemic control, obesity and social disadvantage. Diabet Med. 2011;28(9):1060-7.

Yamamoto JM, Murphy HR. Emerging Technologies for the Management of Type 1
 Diabetes in Pregnancy. Curr Diab Rep. 2018;18(1):4.

 Stewart ZA, Wilinska ME, Hartnell S, Temple RC, Rayman G, Stanley KP, et al. Closed-Loop Insulin Delivery during Pregnancy in Women with Type 1 Diabetes. N Engl J Med.
 2016;375(7):644-54.

83. Weisman A, Bai JW, Cardinez M, Kramer CK, Perkins BA. Effect of artificial pancreas systems on glycaemic control in patients with type 1 diabetes: a systematic review and meta-analysis of outpatient randomised controlled trials. Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol. 2017;5(7):501-12.

# APPENDIX

Copyright agreement for Chapter 2 "Intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia in pregnancies complicated by diabetes: a systematic review"

#### JOHN WILEY AND SONS LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Feb 05, 2019

This Agreement between Dr. Jennifer Yamamoto ("You") and John Wiley and Sons ("John Wiley and Sons") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by John Wiley and Sons and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number	4522680663667
License date	Feb 05, 2019
Licensed Content Publisher	John Wiley and Sons
Licensed Content Publication	Diabetic Medicine
Licensed Content Title	Intrapartum glycaemic control and neonatal hypoglycaemia in pregnancies complicated by diabetes: a systematic review
Licensed Content Author	J. M. Yamamoto, J. Benham, K. Mohammad, et al
Licensed Content Date	Jan 14, 2018
Licensed Content Volume	35
Licensed Content Issue	2
Licensed Content Pages	11
Type of use	Dissertation/Thesis
Requestor type	Author of this Wiley article
Format	Electronic
Portion	Full article
Will you be translating?	No
Title of your thesis / dissertation	Intrapartum glycemic control and neonatal hypoglycemia in pregnancies complicated by diabetes
Expected completion date	Jun 2019
Expected size (number of pages)	100
Requestor Location	Dr. Jennifer Yamamoto 1820 Richmond Rd SW
	Calgary, AB T2T5C7 Canada Attn: Dr. Jennifer Yamamoto
Publisher Tax ID	EU826007151
Total	0.00 CAD
Terms and Conditions	

#### TERMS AND CONDITIONS

This copyrighted material is owned by or exclusively licensed to John Wiley & Sons, Inc. or one of its group companies (each a"Wiley Company") or handled on behalf of a society with which a Wiley Company has exclusive publishing rights in relation to a particular work (collectively "WILEY"). By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the billing and payment terms and conditions established by the Copyright

https://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=a7152e2c-89ae-4c52-b7a2-1ebc11d56616

2/5/2019

Clearance Center Inc., ("CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions"), at the time that you opened your RightsLink account (these are available at any time at <u>http://myaccount.copyright.com</u>).

#### **Terms and Conditions**

2/5/2019

- The materials you have requested permission to reproduce or reuse (the "Wiley Materials") are protected by copyright.
- You are hereby granted a personal, non-exclusive, non-sub licensable (on a standalone basis), non-transferable, worldwide, limited license to reproduce the Wiley Materials for the purpose specified in the licensing process. This license, and any CONTENT (PDF or image file) purchased as part of your order, is for a one-time use only and limited to any maximum distribution number specified in the license. The first instance of republication or reuse granted by this license must be completed within two years of the date of the grant of this license (although copies prepared before the end date may be distributed thereafter). The Wiley Materials shall not be used in any other manner or for any other purpose, beyond what is granted in the license. Permission is granted subject to an appropriate acknowledgement given to the author, title of the material/book/journal and the publisher. You shall also duplicate the copyright notice that appears in the Wiley publication in your use of the Wiley Material. Permission is also granted on the understanding that nowhere in the text is a previously published source acknowledged for all or part of this Wiley Material. Any third party content is expressly excluded from this permission.
- With respect to the Wiley Materials, all rights are reserved. Except as expressly granted by the terms of the license, no part of the Wiley Materials may be copied, modified, adapted (except for minor reformatting required by the new Publication), translated, reproduced, transferred or distributed, in any form or by any means, and no derivative works may be made based on the Wiley Materials without the prior permission of the respective copyright owner.For STM Signatory Publishers clearing permission under the terms of the <u>STM Permissions Guidelines</u> only, the terms of the license are extended to include subsequent editions and for editions in other languages, provided such editions are for the work as a whole in situ and does not involve the separate exploitation of the permitted figures or extracts, You may not alter, remove or suppress in any manner any copyright, trademark or other notices displayed by the Wiley Materials. You may not license, rent, sell, loan, lease, pledge, offer as security, transfer or assign the Wiley Materials on a stand-alone basis, or any of the rights granted to you hereunder to any other person.
- The Wiley Materials and all of the intellectual property rights therein shall at all times remain the exclusive property of John Wiley & Sons Inc, the Wiley Companies, or their respective licensors, and your interest therein is only that of having possession of and the right to reproduce the Wiley Materials pursuant to Section 2 herein during the continuance of this Agreement. You agree that you own no right, title or interest in or to the Wiley Materials or any of the intellectual property rights therein. You shall have no rights hereunder other than the license as provided for above in Section 2. No right, license or interest to any trademark, trade name, service mark or other branding ("Marks") of WILEY or its licensors is granted hereunder, and you agree that you shall not assert any such right, license or interest with respect thereto
- NEITHER WILEY NOR ITS LICENSORS MAKES ANY WARRANTY OR REPRESENTATION OF ANY KIND TO YOU OR ANY THIRD PARTY, EXPRESS, IMPLIED OR STATUTORY, WITH RESPECT TO THE MATERIALS

https://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=a7152e2c-89ae-4c52-b7a2-1ebc11d56616

OR THE ACCURACY OF ANY INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THE MATERIALS, INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, ANY IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, ACCURACY, SATISFACTORY QUALITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE, USABILITY, INTEGRATION OR NON-INFRINGEMENT AND ALL SUCH WARRANTIES ARE HEREBY EXCLUDED BY WILEY AND ITS LICENSORS AND WAIVED BY YOU.

- WILEY shall have the right to terminate this Agreement immediately upon breach of this Agreement by you.
- You shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless WILEY, its Licensors and their respective directors, officers, agents and employees, from and against any actual or threatened claims, demands, causes of action or proceedings arising from any breach of this Agreement by you.
- IN NO EVENT SHALL WILEY OR ITS LICENSORS BE LIABLE TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR ENTITY FOR ANY SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL, INDIRECT, EXEMPLARY OR PUNITIVE DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DOWNLOADING, PROVISIONING, VIEWING OR USE OF THE MATERIALS REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, INFRINGEMENT OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES BASED ON LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA, FILES, USE, BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY OR CLAIMS OF THIRD PARTIES), AND WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED HEREIN.
- Should any provision of this Agreement be held by a court of competent jurisdiction to be illegal, invalid, or unenforceable, that provision shall be deemed amended to achieve as nearly as possible the same economic effect as the original provision, and the legality, validity and enforceability of the remaining provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected or impaired thereby.
- The failure of either party to enforce any term or condition of this Agreement shall not constitute a waiver of either party's right to enforce each and every term and condition of this Agreement. No breach under this agreement shall be deemed waived or excused by either party unless such waiver or consent is in writing signed by the party granting such waiver or consent. The waiver by or consent of a party to a breach of any provision of this Agreement shall not operate or be construed as a waiver of or consent to any other or subsequent breach by such other party.
- This Agreement may not be assigned (including by operation of law or otherwise) by you without WILEY's prior written consent.
- Any fee required for this permission shall be non-refundable after thirty (30) days from receipt by the CCC.
- These terms and conditions together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein) form the entire agreement between you and WILEY concerning this licensing transaction and (in the absence of fraud) supersedes

https://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=a7152e2c-89ae-4c52-b7a2-1ebc11d56616

2/5/2019

all prior agreements and representations of the parties, oral or written. This Agreement may not be amended except in writing signed by both parties. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the parties' successors, legal representatives, and authorized assigns.

- In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall prevail.
- WILEY expressly reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.
- This Agreement will be void if the Type of Use, Format, Circulation, or Requestor Type was misrepresented during the licensing process.
- This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of New York, USA, without regards to such state's conflict of law rules. Any legal action, suit or proceeding arising out of or relating to these Terms and Conditions or the breach thereof shall be instituted in a court of competent jurisdiction in New York County in the State of New York in the United States of America and each party hereby consents and submits to the personal jurisdiction of such court, waives any objection to venue in such court and consents to service of process by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, at the last known address of such party.

#### WILEY OPEN ACCESS TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Wiley Publishes Open Access Articles in fully Open Access Journals and in Subscription journals offering Online Open. Although most of the fully Open Access journals publish open access articles under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution (CC BY) License only, the subscription journals and a few of the Open Access Journals offer a choice of Creative Commons Licenses. The license type is clearly identified on the article.

#### The Creative Commons Attribution License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution License (CC-BY)</u> allows users to copy, distribute and transmit an article, adapt the article and make commercial use of the article. The CC-BY license permits commercial and non-

#### **Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License**

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial (CC-BY-NC)License</u> permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.(see below)

#### Creative Commons Attribution-Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License

The <u>Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial-NoDerivs License</u> (CC-BY-NC-ND) permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited, is not used for commercial purposes and no modifications or adaptations are made. (see below)

#### Use by commercial "for-profit" organizations

Use of Wiley Open Access articles for commercial, promotional, or marketing purposes requires further explicit permission from Wiley and will be subject to a fee. Further details can be found on Wiley Online Library <a href="http://olabout.wiley.com/WileyCDA/Section/id-410895.html">http://olabout.wiley.com/WileyCDA/Section/id-410895.html</a>

https://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=a7152e2c-89ae-4c52-b7a2-1ebc11d56616

2/5/2019

RightsLink Printable License

**Other Terms and Conditions:** 

v1.10 Last updated September 2015

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

https://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=a7152e2c-89ae-4c52-b7a2-1ebc11d56616